#### **DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE**

#### **HYSBYSIAD O GYFARFOD**

Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod

#### PWYLLGOR Y GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD

Lleoliad: Ystafell Bwyllgor 5, Neuadd y Ddinas, Abertawe

Dyddiad: Dydd Mawrth, 15 Mawrth 2016

Amser: 5.00 pm

Cadeirydd: Y Cynghorydd Paul Meara

#### Aelodaeth:

Cynghorwyr: R A Clay, A C S Colburn, J P Curtice, N J Davies, J W Jones, E T Kirchner, D J Lewis, A S Lewis, K E Marsh, G Owens a/ac L V Walton

#### **AGENDA**

Rhif y Dudalen.

- 1 Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.
- 2 Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol. www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeliadauBuddiannau
- Cofnodion.
   Cymeradwyo a llofnodi cofnodion y cyfarfod(ydd) blaenorol fel cofnod cywir.
- 4 Adroddiad Blynyddol Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar 4 91 Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol Chwefror 2016.
- 5 Sefydlu Cynghorwyr 2017. 92 100

Patrick Arran

Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd

Dydd Mawrth, 8 Mawrth 2016

Cyswllt: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - (01792) 636923

#### **CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA**

#### MINUTES OF THE DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE

## HELD AT COMMITTEE ROOM 5, GUILDHALL, SWANSEA ON TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2015 AT 5.00 PM

**PRESENT**: Councillor P M Meara (Chair) Presided

Councillor(s)Councillor(s)Councillor(s)R A ClayA C S ColburnN J DaviesJ W JonesE T KirchnerK E Marsh

L V Walton

#### Officer(s)

H Evans - Head of Democratic Services
J Harley - Information and Strategy Manager

A Lowe - Democratic Services Officer

T Meredith - Deputy Head of Legal and Democratic Services K Prince - Corporate Learning and Development Manager

#### 16 **APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.**

Councillor(s): J P Curtice and D J Lewis

#### 17 DISCLOSURES OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS.

In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City & County of Swansea, no interests were declared.

#### 18 **MINUTES**.

**RESOLVED** that the minutes of the Democratic Services Committee held on 6 October 2015 be approved and signed as a correct record.

#### **Matters Arising:**

#### 12 Democratic Services Annual Report 2014-2015

- The number of Annual Reports submitted by Councillors had decreased considerably to those submitted for the 2013-2014 period. Only 51 out of 72 Annual Reports had been received for the 2014-2015 period.
- The Chair reported that he and the Head of Democratic Services had met with the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) on 19 October 2015 as part of the consultation on the IRPW Draft Annual Report 2016.

## 19 <u>DISCUSSION ON FUTURE ICT PROVISION FOR COUNCILLORS FROM 2017</u> (VERBAL).

The Information and Strategy Manager attended to commence discussions on the future ICT provision for Councillors from 2017.

The Head of Democratic Services provided background information on previous arrangements whereby prior to 2012 some Councillors were "opt in" and some were "opt out". From 2012 all Councillors opted out of the in-house ICT provision and have been eligible to claim the ICT Allowance to purchase their own equipment.

General discussions centred on the following:

- Whether Councillors wanted to continue to be "opt out" or whether they wanted to back to being provided with ICT equipment via the Authority – ("opt in").
- Review the level of the ICT Allowance.
- The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales should commence discussions with HMRC regarding receipted claims for Councillors ICT Allowance being subject to tax and national insurance deductions.
- The amount of large emails (in file size) sent to Councillors by Officers within the Authority should be reduced to prevent mailboxes exceeding their size limit. This could be done by sending web links.
- All Councillors be consulted on their views via drop-in sessions.

**RESOLVED** that the Head of Democratic Services and the Chair of Democratic Services Committee consult with all Councillors regarding their views on the future ICT Provision for Councillors from May 2017.

#### 20 COUNCILLOR TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 2016-2017

The Head of Democratic Services outlined the report to consider the responses of the Councillors / Co-opted Member Training Needs Analysis and to outline a Councillor Training and Development 2016-2017 programme.

A discussion ensued regarding "mandatory" training and the inability for the Council to enforce attendance at such training. It was also suggested that the topics identified in the table on page 6 be split into:

- Those that were required by legislation and those;
- that the Authority would like to class as mandatory.

**RESOLVED** that the Democratic Services Committee recommend to Council that:

- 1) The 14 training sessions for Councillors and Co-opted Members as listed in paragraph 2.2 of the report be deemed mandatory;
- 2) Regular reports on attendance or non-attendance of Councillors at training / development events be passed to the relevant Political Group Leaders / Political Whips by the Head of Democratic Services in order to encourage increased attendance:
- 3) All training sessions, where possible, be timetabled with both a daytime and

## Minutes of the Democratic Services Committee (15.12.2015) Cont'd

- an evening session in order to encourage better attendance;
- 4) Training sessions be adapted into e-learning programmes wherever possible to compliment the Councillors / Co-opted Members Training Programme;
- 5) Training be divided into 3 categories namely Mandatory, Recommended and Councillor / Co-opted Requested;
- 6) There be greater use of e-learning;
- 7) The Head of Democratic Services work closely with the Corporate Learning & Development Manager in order to commence work on an e-learning programme targeting as many of the necessary courses as possible;
- 8) Councillors / Co-opted Members should attend relevant / mandatory training or development sessions at least once per electoral term or more frequently should the content of the training change significantly due to legislation / quidance etc.
- 9) The Head of Democratic Services in consultation with the Chair of the Democratic Services Committee prioritise which of the following courses should form the formal Training Programme and also which ones need to be initially added to the additional training programme.

#### 21 **WORKPLAN**.

**RESOLVED** that the Workplan be updated as follows:

DATE	ITEM
15 March 2016	Councillor Induction 2017
15 March 2016	Future ICT provision for Councillors from 2017

The meeting ended at 6.04 pm

CHAIR

## Agenda Item 4

#### Report of the Head of Democratic Services

#### Democratic Services Committee – 15 March 2016

## INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES 2016-2017 ANNUAL REPORT – FEBRUARY 2016

Purpose:	To outline the content of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 2016-2017 Annual Report of February 2016		
Policy Framework:	None.		
Reason for Decision:	For Information Only.		
Report Author: Huw Evans			
Finance Officer:		Carl Billingsley	
Legal Officer: Tracey Meredith		Tracey Meredith	
Access to Services Officer: Phil Crouch			

#### 1. Introduction

- 1.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales published its 2016-2017 Annual Report in February 2016.
- 1.2 The report is attached as **Appendix 1** for information.
- 2. Main Determinations Changes Affecting the City and County of Swansea
- 2.1 Determination 2 within the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 2016-2017 Annual Report is the only main determination change that will potentially affect the City and County of Swansea.
- 2.2 Relevant extract from the Annual Report.

## "Payments to members of the Executive, Chairs of committees and the Leader of the Opposition

3.3 The Panel has revisited its previous decisions in respect of the senior salaries paid to these post holders.

#### (i) The Executive

The visits to all principal councils by the Panel in 2009 produced the general conclusion that Executive members should be considered as working the equivalent of full time (up to 40 hours per week) but not necessarily nine to five.

However, we have stressed that in reaching this decision there was recognition that with a potential of nearly 200 Executive members (excluding Leaders) there would be a variety of arrangements and that some portfolio holders would have greater responsibility and workloads than others. But this was dependent on the specific organisational arrangements of the cabinets of each authority.

We have now given further consideration to this issue following more recent visits as well as views expressed to us as to the appropriateness of paying cabinet members the same salary irrespective of the responsibility of the portfolio held.

Although many councils operate with a cabinet of 10, the statutory maximum, others choose to have smaller cabinets and therefore the range of individual portfolios is much greater. We have concluded that this should be reflected in the remuneration framework. It is not the role of the Panel to determine the structure of cabinets of local authorities so the new determinations provide flexibility for each council to decide the appropriate range of portfolios to meet local needs, recognising that there is an inevitable variation on the level of responsibility and workload.

Executive members may be paid at either of the two senior salary levels below:

Level 1 - Group A - £32,000 Level 2 - Group A - £28,800

It will be a matter for individual authorities to decide the implementation of the determinations within their specific cabinet structures.

#### (ii) Chairs of Committees

The Panel continues to take the view that the responsibility and function of chairing a committee is not generally influenced by population of the authority.

However, there is recognition that the specific responsibility and workload of some chairs is greater than others, and this has been a topic of ongoing dialogue and debate. We consider that this should be reflected in the remuneration framework.

The Panel is therefore introducing two levels of remuneration for chairs of committees:

Level 1 chairs - £22,000 Level 2 chairs - £20,000

It is a matter for individual authorities to determine at which level a chair is paid to reflect the appropriate responsibility attached to the specific post."

- 2.2 Council at its Annual Meeting in May 2016 will need to consider at what level payments will be made to its:
  - i) Executive (Cabinet Members);
  - ii) Committee Chairs.

#### 3. Equality and Engagement Implications

3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening process took place prior to the consultation period. The outcome indicated that it was low priority and a full report was not required.

#### 4. Financial Implications

4.1 All costs associated with this report will be met from within existing budgets.

#### 5. Legal Implications

5.1 None.

#### **Background Papers:**

None.

#### Appendices:

Appendix 1	Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Letter and 2016-		
	2017 Annual Report – February 2016.		



Eich cyf/ Your ref: Ein cyf/Our ref: fA909553

To: Leaders and Chief Executives of County and County Borough Councils Chairs and Chief Executives of National Park Authorities Chairs and Clerks of Fire and Rescue Authorities Chair and Chief Executive of One Voice Wales Leader and Chief Executive of Welsh Local Government Association Head of Democratic/Members Services of County and County Borough Councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities Community & Town Councils

18 February 2016

Dear Colleague,

#### Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Annual Report 2016/17

This is the first time since the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales was established that the Chair has changed between the publication of the draft Annual Report and that of the final Report.

Although this is my first Annual Report as Chair I have been a member of the Panel since it was formed and I have worked closely with the previous Chair, Richard Penn. It would be remiss of me if I did not refer to the major influence he had in the development of the Panel's work during the eight years of his tenure. I am sure that members of the Panel, both past and present would agree with me that it has been a privilege to work with him and we wish him well for the future.

Local Government in Wales faces major challenges over the next few years, both financially and structurally. We too will have challenges to ensure that we respond to any changes that will impact on the roles and responsibilities of members and senior officers of the local authorities that are within our remit.

However, this Report deals with the current structures of local government in Wales and recognises the continued financial constraints that authorities face. Therefore we are not

Ystafell /Room M05 Llawr Cyntaf/First Floor Adeiladau Coron/Crown Buildings Parc Cathays/Cathays Park Caerdydd/Cardiff CF10 3NQ

Ffôn/Tel: 029 2080 1047

Ebost/Email: irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk www.remunerationpanelwales.org.uk www.panelcymrugydnabyddiaethariannol.org.uk

proposing any increases in the basic or senior salaries. We have, however made some changes to our framework to provide greater opportunities for flexibility at local level to reflect the variations in governance structures of Principal Councils. The Panel appreciates the responses which have been received in respect of the draft Annual Report and as a consequence have made modifications which are contained in this final Report.

We are introducing two salary levels for Executive Members (except Leaders and Deputy Leaders) and for chairs of committees of the 22 Principal Councils so that they can take account of the differences in responsibilities that may be attached to specific posts. Having considered the responses to our draft Report in which we prescribed the number of executive posts to be paid at the higher level, we understood the concerns raised about this, so the revised arrangements leaves it to the discretion of each council which salary level is paid according to local circumstances. Nevertheless the Panel considers that in many instances there are differences in the responsibilities attached to portfolios of executive members and should be reflected in the level of salary paid. The same principle also applies to chairs of committees. We will examine the extent that this flexible approach has been used when we monitor the schedules of remuneration in the autumn.

The Local Government (Wales) Act 2015, has extended the Panel's remit to include changes to the salaries of chief officers of authorities of principal councils. This part of the Act was effective from the end of January 2016. Welsh Government guidance to the Panel in respect of this additional function has been issued and is available on our website

Yours sincerely,

John Barter

John Bader

Chair



# Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales

**Annual Report** 

#### **Foreword**



This is our eighth Annual Report since the Panel was established in 2008 and is the fifth Annual Report since the approval of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 ('the Measure')<sup>1</sup>.

In 2013 the Panel revisited the 22 principal councils, the 3 national park authorities (NPAs) and the 3 fire and rescue authorities (FRAs) to discuss how our determinations

were working in practice and what matters we should address in our Annual Report. This resulted in a number of significant changes to the Panel's remuneration framework in its Annual Report published in February 2014, including a small increase in the Basic Salary.

Last year the Panel decided that given the continuing constraints on local government spending there would be no increase in remuneration in 2015/16. The Panel has taken the same approach this year and has decided that there will be no increase in remuneration in 2016/17.

For the first time, the Panel was given a remit letter by the Minister for Public Services in which he drew the Panel's attention to the desire of Welsh Government to reduce the cost of politics to the public purse. The Independent Remuneration Panel has given due consideration to the remit letter.

This year the Panel has also given further consideration to the remuneration of members of community and town councils in the light of additional information it has obtained about their work, and we have decided to make some amendments to the remuneration framework as it applies to these councils.

The Panel remains concerned at the inconsistency of support provided to members to enable them to discharge their functions effectively. We are also concerned that some councillors have not always fully utilised the support that has been provided through the Panel's remuneration framework and urges all those involved to ensure that the Panel's determinations are fully implemented and that individual councillors are encouraged to access all the support available, including the Care Allowance.

The Welsh Government amended the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting section 143A that enables the Panel to take a view on any change to the salary of the Head of Paid Service (normally the Chief Executive or Chief Fire Officer) or anything in the Pay Policy Statement of an authority that relates to this post. The Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 has extended this on a temporary basis, to Chief Officers of principal local authorities. In addition the Act provides that the Panel be given powers to determine remuneration for members of shadow authorities and newly forming principal councils.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enacted.

The Panel has continued to contribute wherever possible through its determinations to enhancing diversity in local government in Wales. It has also taken steps to help Welsh Government to broaden the Panel's membership when the opportunity occurs, and the Minister has appointed Julie May, to the Panel from 1 January 2016.

The Panel is keenly aware of the way Welsh Government is progressing the work of the Commission on Public Service Governance and Delivery and will be liaising closely with the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales in preparation for the implementation of the various Acts that will determine the future shape of local government in Wales.

The Panel's determinations for 2016/17 can be found at Annex 1.

My term of office as Chair of the Panel ends on 31 December 2015, after eight very interesting and rewarding years in that role. I want to thank my fellow Panel members, past and present, for their support to me throughout that time and for their commitment to the work of the Panel. I am very happy to welcome my colleague, John Bader, as the new Chair of the Panel and to wish him and the other Panel members every success in the future.

Finally, on behalf of the Panel I would like to put on record our appreciation of the support we receive for our work from the Welsh Government officials who constitute our secretariat.

Richard Penn Chair December 2015

## **Contents**

Sum	nmary of payments to members and co-opted members of principal councils, community and town councils, national park authorities and Welsh fire & resonant re	ue 1
1.	Introduction	5
2.	The Panel's Framework: Principles of Remuneration	10
3.	Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: Basic, Senior and Civic Salaries	12
4.	Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC)	24
5.	Pension provision for elected members of principal councils	25
6.	Payments to members of national park authorities	26
7.	Payments to members of Welsh fire and rescue authorities	30
8.	Payments to co-opted members of principal councils, national park authorities and fire & rescue authorities	s 34
9.	Specific or additional senior salaries	37
10.	Payments to members of community and town councils	38
11. \$	Salaries of heads of paid service of principal councils and fire and rescue authorities and chief officer of principal councils	42
12.	Compliance with Panel requirements	44
Ann	ex 1: The Panel's determinations for 2016/17	45
Ann	ex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations	50
Ann	ex 3: Schedule of member remuneration	65
Ann	ex 4: Publicity requirements	67
Ann	ex 5: Ministerial Remit Letter to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wal	es68
Ann	ex 6: Guidance to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales on the sala of local authority chief executives and chief officers	ries 71

# Summary of payments to members and co-opted members of principal councils, community and town councils, national park authorities and Welsh fire & rescue authorities in 2016/17

**Table 1:** Maximum numbers of council membership eligible for payment of a senior salary

Council	Number of councillors	Number of senior salaries
Group A Cardiff Rhondda Cynon Taf Swansea	75 75 72	19 19 19
Group B Bridgend Caerphilly Carmarthenshire Conwy Flintshire Gwynedd Neath Port Talbot Newport Pembrokeshire Powys Vale of Glamorgan Wrexham	54 73 74 59 70 75 64 50 60 73 47 52	18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18
Group C Blaenau Gwent Ceredigion Denbighshire Isle of Anglesey Merthyr Tydfil Monmouthshire Torfaen	42 42 47 30 33 43 44	17 17 17 15 16 17

#### Table 1 notes

(i) Following the commencement of the provisions of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 there is no longer a need for the Panel to express the limit on senior salaries in percentages. It should be remembered however, that the Measure restricts the maximum number of senior salaries to 50% of the membership of the council, unless Welsh Ministers agree that the

Panel may determine an increased proportion<sup>2</sup>. That has implications for Merthyr Tydfil where the maximum number is 16 and for Isle of Anglesey where the equivalent number is 15 (both of which include civic salaries in respect of the posts of civic head and deputy civic head).

(ii) The civic salaries in respect of civic head and deputy civic head do not count towards the maximum proportion of senior salaries that a council is allowed to pay (except for the Isle of Anglesey and Merthyr Tydfil).

Table 2: Basic salary and senior salaries shall be payable as follows to all members of principal councils

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £13,300					
	Group A (Cardiff, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Swansea)	Group B (Bridgend, Caerphilly, Carmarthenshire, Conwy, Flintshire, Gwynedd, Newport, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys, Vale of Glamorgan, Wrexham)	Group C (Blaenau Gwent, Ceredigion, Denbighshire, Merthyr Tydfil, Monmouthshire, Torfaen, Isle of Anglesey)		
Senior salaries (inclusive of basic s	Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary)				
Band 1 Leader Deputy leader	£53,000 £37,000	£48,000 £33,500	£43,000 £30,000		
Band 2 Executive members – Level 1 Executive members – Level 2	£32,000 £28,800	£29,000 £26,100	£26,000 £23,400		
Band 3 Committee chairs (if remunerated):	Level 1 Level 2	£22,000 £20,000			
Band 4 Leader of largest opposition group <sup>3</sup>	£22,000				
Band 5 Leader of other political groups		£17,000			

<sup>2</sup> As set out in The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011: Section 142; sub-section 5. <sup>3</sup> Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of

"largest opposition group" and "other political group".

#### **Table 2 Notes**

(i) The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available to the leader of the largest opposition group (subject to the 10% of membership requirement).

**Table 3:** Civic salaries (where paid) shall be as follows to members of principal councils

Remuneration of civic leaders and deputy civic leaders (inclusive of basic salaries)				
Responsibility Level Civic leaders Deputy civic leaders				
Level 1	24,000	18,000		
Level 2	21,500	16,000		
Level 3	19,000	14,000		

**Table 4:** Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights) of local authorities (including national park authorities and fire and rescue authorities)

Chairs of standards committees and audit committees	£256 (4 hours and over) £128 (up to 4 hours)
Ordinary members of standards committees who also chair standards committees for community and town councils	£226 daily fee (4 hours and over) £113 (up to 4 hours)
Ordinary members of standards committees; education scrutiny committee; crime and disorder scrutiny committee and audit committee	£198 (4 hours and over) £99 (up to 4 hours)

**Table 5:** Basic and senior salaries shall be as follows to members of national park authorities (NPAs)

Basic salary	£3,600
Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary)	
Chair <sup>4</sup> (Band 3) Deputy chair/committee chair (see note i)	£12,300
Level 1 Level 2	£7,300 £6,000

Table 6: Basic and senior salaries shall be as follows to members of Welsh fire and rescue authorities (FRAs)

Basic salary	£1,700
Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary)	
Chair <sup>5</sup> (Band 3) Deputy chair Committee chair (see note i)	£10,400 £5,400 £5,400

#### Tables 5 & 6 notes

- A National Park Authority / Fire & Rescue Authority senior salary can be paid to the chair, deputy chair, and up to two other committee chairs.
- National Park Authorities and Fire & Rescue Authorities, as in the case of (ii) principal councils, can decide on the maximum number of days for which co-opted members may be paid in any one year.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast, Snowdonia.
 <sup>5</sup> Mid & West Wales, North Wales, South Wales.

#### 1. Introduction

- 1.1 This is the eighth Annual Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel), and the fifth published under the requirements of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011. The Measure extended the responsibilities of the Panel and its powers under Section 142 to decide (prescribe) payments to members of relevant authorities. This enabled the Panel to move beyond the previous limitation of setting maximum limits for member payments and the Panel has been able to use this power of prescription from April 2012. The Measure also extended the Panel's remit to include responsibility for the remuneration of members of National Park Authorities (NPAs), Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) and Community and Town Councils.
- 1.2 Section 63 of The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amended the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting Section 143A. This requires that any principal council or fire and rescue authority that intends to change the salary of its Head of Paid Service must consult the Panel unless the change is in keeping with changes applied to other officers. Section 143A also enables the Panel to take a view on anything in the Pay Policy Statement of an authority that relates to the salary of the Head of Paid Service (normally the Chief Executive or Chief Fire Officer). The Panel's approach to its use of this power is set out in Section 11 of this Report and accords with the guidance issued to the Panel by the Welsh Government that can be found at Annex 6.
- 1.3 The Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 provides additional powers and responsibilities for the Panel. This, on a temporary basis, extends its functions relating to Heads of Paid Service to Chief Officers of principal local authorities. In addition the Act provides that the Panel be given powers to determine remuneration for members of shadow authorities and newly forming principal councils.
- 1.4 In the determinations for this Annual Report the Panel has continued to take into account affordability and acceptability, given the ongoing constraints on local authority budgets.
- 1.5 Although there has been an increase in population throughout Wales, the 2011 census<sup>6</sup> did not indicate that this has been sufficient to move any principal council to a higher population group and the Panel's framework is unchanged in respect of population groups.
- 1.6 As with the Panel's previous Reports, its determinations on member remuneration are underpinned by a set of principles set out in Section 2 of this Annual Report.
- 1.7 The Panel remains firmly of the view that maintaining the democratic values of local governance cannot be cost-free. Members of local authorities (including co-opted and appointed members) are there to represent the interests of local

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 2011 Census table CP04: Usual resident population all ages, unitary authorities in Wales.

people, undertake the governance of local communities, and secure value-formoney public services for local tax-payers through effective scrutiny. These are significant and considerable tasks for members of relevant authorities within the Panel's remit. Publicly funded remuneration is made available to encourage a diversity of willing and able people to undertake local governance through their elected, appointed or co-opted roles.

- 1.8 In determining the level of payments to members of local councils, the Panel has sought to meet its principle of 'acceptability' by ensuring that these are not 'so great as to require a significant diversion of resources from key council priorities'. But Section 142(8) of the Measure is more explicit on 'affordability' when it states that "when setting an amount" ... the Panel must take into account what it considers will be the likely financial impact of doing so on relevant authorities". Meeting the requirement of the Measure in regard to affordability has been a challenge for the Panel, not least because of public interest in the payments made to members. The Panel acknowledges that the issue of affordability – in relation both to relevant authorities' service budgets and to the electorate's disposable incomes - is likely to exert a powerful impact on the public perception of any increases to members' payments.
- 1.9 As a charge on the public purse, payments to members for their time, worth and responsibility must be, and must be seen to be, fair and affordable. The Panel's determinations in its 2009 Report aligned payments to the median gross earnings of all full-time employees resident in Wales as reported in the Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE). The basic salary was set at three-fifths of the All Wales Median Salary and senior salaries were set at multiples of this annual median salary. In setting these salaries the Panel recognised that there was an unpaid public service contribution.
- 1.10 Given the very modest relaxation in the constraints on public sector pay and also to prevent further erosion of the relative levels of remuneration, the Panel decided last year in view of the continuing severe constraints on local government resources not to increase remuneration in 2015/16. There has been no change in that situation in the current year and the Panel has decided not to increase remuneration in 2016/17. This will further compromise the alignment to median gross earnings in Wales that underpinned the basic salary set in 2009. This is a matter that the Panel intends to re-examine at an appropriate time in the future.
- 1.11 For the first time the Panel this year was provided with a 'remit' letter<sup>8</sup> by the Minister for Public Services which is normal practice for Assembly sponsored public bodies. The Minister drew the Panel's attention to the desire of Welsh Government to reduce the cost of politics to the public purse and pointed to a number of aspects of the current remuneration framework for consideration. The Minister also asked the Panel to consider whether the rates of payment to leaders and executive members is justified when compared with those paid in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enacted.

<sup>8</sup> At Annex 5

- similarly sized councils in other parts of the UK. The Panel has given due consideration to the remit letter.
- 1.12 The Panel obtained comparative information from a UK expert on elected member remuneration and met with him to discuss his findings. As a result of this the Panel was reassured that generally the rates of remuneration that it has determined for leaders and executive members in Wales are justified and appropriate in comparison to those of other UK nations.
- 1.13 Consultation responses to this year's draft Annual Report have raised issues about the independence of the Panel and the way the Panel has responded to the remit letter and the evidence on which the Panel bases its determinations. So far as the first issue is concerned, the Panel has always made it clear that it is a creation of Welsh Government and that the Minister appoints the Chair and members of the Panel and provides its funding as well as a Secretariat to support its work. Notwithstanding this, the Panel has reached its determinations without direction from Welsh Government and the determinations set out in the draft 2016 Report resulted from continuing consideration of the Framework generally and in particular a desire to maximise local flexibility.

In respect of the evidence base the Panel has used to make its determinations, the Panel has made it clear that this is essentially qualitative rather than quantitative. It is derived from information collected from a questionnaire survey of all councillors updated through regular visits to authorities, during which the Panel met many members. Meetings were also conducted with particular interest groups and submissions were regularly received from officers, councillors and members of the wider community. The Panel members all have wide-ranging and lengthy experience either as councillors and/or senior officers and use this extensive qualitative information to make relevant and appropriate determinations.

- 1.14 In its draft 2015 Annual Report the Panel proposed to extend to chairs of committees and civic heads the flexibility it had introduced in its 2014 report in respect of the payments for the roles of committee chair and deputy chairs of NPAs. Following consultation about this proposal the Panel decided to postpone the implementation of this flexibility for committee chairs pending further consideration. The Panel has decided to extend flexibility to the payment of Executive members and committee chairs.
- 1.15 The Panel remains concerned at the wide variation and inconsistency of support provided to members to enable them to discharge their functions effectively. The Panel has determined that such support should be provided without cost to the individual elected member, and that the cost of support must be appropriate, reasonable and publicly declared. Deductions must not be made from members' salaries by the respective authority as a contribution towards those support costs which the authority considers necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of members. However, the Panel is aware that a number of authorities have not fully implemented the Panel's determinations in

this regard and last year amendments were made to its previous determinations to ensure there is greater consistency across Wales.

Further to its discussions with members of Democratic Services Committees and Heads of Democratic Services in 2015 the Panel is still concerned that there continues to be variation in the support provided to members. It is important that authorities are aware that insufficient support can undermine the ability of elected members to discharge their basic duties effectively.

- 1.16 The Panel expects that the support provided should take account of the specific needs of individual members. The functions of Democratic Services Committees include a requirement to review the level of support provided to members to carry out their duties and the Panel would expect these committees to carry this out and bring forward proposals to the full council as to what is considered to be reasonable. Members of Democratic Service Committees and Heads of Democratic Services indicated at our meetings with them that it would be beneficial for authorities to be proactive in sharing information and establishing benchmarks for levels of provision and good practice in how authorities support the work of elected members.
- 1.17 The Panel notes that members have not always utilised the support that has been provided through the Panel's remuneration framework, particularly in respect of the care allowance. Some members are reluctant to claim all that they are entitled to claim in support of their work, particularly the care allowance, because of concerns about the adverse publicity this can attract. Democratic Services Committees should take steps to encourage and facilitate eligible members in claiming these allowances.
- 1.18 The Panel urges all those involved to ensure that the Panel's determinations are fully implemented and that individual members are encouraged to access all the available support, including the care allowance, which has been extended to include provision for members who themselves require personal support and assistance.
- 1.19 The Panel has continued to contribute wherever possible to enhancing diversity in local government in Wales through its determinations. It has also taken steps along with the Public Appointments Unit that should help broaden the Panel's membership when the opportunity occurs. The Panel responded to an invitation from the then Minister for Local Government and Government Business to report on its approach to increasing diversity within its membership. The report can be found on the Panel's website<sup>9</sup>.
- 1.20 Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to monitor relevant authorities' compliance with its requirements. An examination of the level of compliance by principal councils revealed that over half of the councils had significant deficiencies in respect of the requirements relating to the Schedule of Member Remuneration and the publication of remuneration as set out in Annual Reports. Although specific concerns were raised with individual authorities and actions

.

<sup>9</sup> http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dsjlg/publications/140926-irp-report-on-local-diversity.pdf

taken to address them, the Panel continues to emphasise the importance of providing accurate and timely information about payments to councillors that can be readily accessed by members of the public. Panel members will continue to engage with representatives of Democratic Services Committees and officers to discuss ways to improve the consistency and ease of access to this information in the future.

- 1.21 There are significant issues of non-compliance by town and community councils which will be the subject of detailed examination and appropriate action.
- 1.22 The Panel recognises the importance that Welsh Government places on effective scrutiny as an essential element of the cabinet system of local government. The Panel will continue to liaise with the Welsh Government's Scrutiny Reference Panel to inform future determinations in relation to the scrutiny function.
- 1.23 The Panel is also aware of the way Welsh Government is progressing the legislation that will determine the future shape of local government in Wales and the Panel will be liaising closely with the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales in preparation for its implementation.

#### 2. The Panel's Framework: Principles of Remuneration

#### Upholding trust and confidence

2.1 Citizens rightly expect that all those who choose to serve in public authorities uphold the public trust by embracing the values and ethics implicit in such public service. These principles underpin the contribution that the work of the Panel and its Framework make towards upholding public trust and confidence.

#### **Simplicity**

2.2 The Framework is clear and understandable. This is essential for the Panel to be able to communicate its determinations effectively to all those who are affected by, or who have an interest in, its work.

#### Remuneration

2.3 The Framework provides for payment to members of public authorities who carry a responsibility for serving their identified communities of geography and of interest. The level of remuneration should not act as a barrier to taking up or continuing in post. There should be no requirement that resources necessary to enable the discharge of duties are funded from the salary. The Framework provides additional recompense for those who are given greater levels of responsibility.

#### **Diversity**

2.4 Democracy is strengthened when the membership of public authorities adequately reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the communities such authorities serve. The Panel will always take in to account the contribution its framework can make in encouraging the participation of those who are significantly under-represented at local authority level.

#### Accountability

2.5 Taxpayers and citizens have the right to receive value for money from public funds committed to the remuneration of those who are elected, appointed or co-opted to serve in the public interest. The Panel expects all principal councils to make information readily available about the activities of their members and in particular expects all local authority councillors to produce an annual report of their council-related activity.

#### **Fairness**

2.6 As an essential test of the framework's fairness, the Panel ensures that its decisions on remuneration for members take account of the earnings of the electorate in Wales. The framework will be capable of being applied consistently to members of all public authorities as a means of ensuring that levels of remuneration are fair, affordable and generally acceptable.

#### Quality

2.7 The Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny and regulatory duties incumbent upon members requires them to engage with a process of continuous quality improvement. The Panel expects members to undertake such training and personal development opportunities as are required to properly discharge the duties for which they are remunerated.

#### **Transparency**

2.8 Transparency of members' remuneration is in the public interest. Some members receive additional levels of remuneration by virtue of being elected or appointed to more than one public body. The framework serves to ensure that knowledge of all members' remuneration is made easily available to the public.

# 3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: Basic, Senior and Civic Salaries

#### Basic salary for elected members of principal councils

3.1 In view of the continuing reduction in public sector funding, the Panel has determined there shall be no increase from spring 2016 in the level of basic salary for members of principal councils.

Determination 1: Basic salary in 2016/17 for elected members of principal councils shall remain at £13,300.

#### Note to Determination 1:

The Panel originally determined (IRP Annual Report December, 2009) that the payment of basic salary would be aligned to the median gross earnings of all full-time employees resident in Wales as reported in the Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE). Given the pressures on public expenditure it was not possible for this alignment to be maintained. The Panel will revisit when appropriate the basis on which the basic salary has been determined.

#### Senior salaries for elected members of principal councils

3.2 The limit on the number of senior salaries payable ('the cap') will remain in place. In 2016/17 the maximum number of senior salaries payable within each council will not be altered and will be as set out in Table 1.

**Table 1:** Maximum numbers of council membership eligible for payment of a senior salary

Council	Number of councillors	Number of senior salaries
Group A Cardiff Rhondda Cynon Taf Swansea	75 75 72	19 19 19
Group B Bridgend Caerphilly Carmarthenshire Conwy Flintshire Gwynedd Neath Port Talbot Newport Pembrokeshire Powys Vale of Glamorgan Wrexham	54 73 74 59 70 75 64 50 60 73 47 52	18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18
Group C Blaenau Gwent Ceredigion Denbighshire Isle of Anglesey Merthyr Tydfil Monmouthshire Torfaen	42 42 47 30 33 43 44	17 17 17 15 16 17

## Payments to members of the Executive, Chairs of committees and the Leader of the Opposition

3.3 The Panel has revisited its previous decisions in respect of the senior salaries paid to these post holders.

#### (i) The Executive:

The visits to all principal councils by the Panel in 2009 produced the general conclusion that Executive members should be considered as working the equivalent of full time (up to 40 hours per week) but not necessarily nine to five. However, we have stressed that in reaching this decision there was recognition that with a potential of nearly 200 Executive members (excluding Leaders) there would be a variety of arrangements and that some portfolio holders would have

greater responsibility and workloads than others. But this was dependent on the specific organisational arrangements of the cabinets of each authority.

We have now given further consideration to this issue following more recent visits as well as views expressed to us as to the appropriateness of paying cabinet members the same salary irrespective of the responsibility of the portfolio held. Although many councils operate with a cabinet of 10, the statutory maximum, others choose to have smaller cabinets and therefore the range of individual portfolios is much greater. We have concluded that this should be reflected in the remuneration framework. It is not the role of the Panel to determine the structure of cabinets of local authorities so the new determinations provide flexibility for each council to decide the appropriate range of portfolios to meet local needs, recognising that there is an inevitable variation on the level of responsibility and workload.

Executive members may be paid at either of the two senior salary levels below:

Level 1 -

Group A - £32,000

Group B - £29,000

Group C - £26,000

Level 2 -

Group A - £28,800

Group B - £26,100

Group C - £23,400

It will be a matter for individual authorities to decide the implementation of the determinations within their specific cabinet structures.

#### (ii) Chairs of Committees

The Panel continues to take the view that the responsibility and function of chairing a committee is not generally influenced by population of the authority. However, there is recognition that the specific responsibility and workload of some chairs is greater than others, and this has been a topic of ongoing dialogue and debate. We consider that this should be reflected in the remuneration framework.

The Panel is therefore introducing two levels of remuneration for chairs of committees:

Level 1 chairs - £22,000 Level 2 chairs - £20,000

It is a matter for individual authorities to determine at which level a chair is paid to reflect the appropriate responsibility attached to the specific post

#### The senior salary bands

Determination 2: The Panel has determined that senior salary levels in 2016/17 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in table 2.

Table 2: Basic salary and senior salaries payable to members of principal councils

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £13,300			
	Group A (Cardiff, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Swansea)	Group B (Bridgend, Caerphilly, Carmarthenshire, Conwy, Flintshire, Gwynedd, Newport, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys, Vale of Glamorgan, Wrexham)	Group C (Blaenau Gwent, Ceredigion, Denbighshire, Merthyr Tydfil, Monmouthshire, Torfaen, Isle of Anglesey)
Senior salaries (inclusive of basi	c salary)		
Band 1 Leader Deputy leader	£53,000 £37,000	£48,000 £33,500	£43,000 £30,000
Band 2 Executive members Level 1	£32,000	£29,000	£26,000
Executive members Level 2	£28,800	£26,100	£23,400
Band 3 Committee chairs (if remunerated):	Level 1	£22,000	
	Level 2	£20,000	
Band 4 Leader of largest opposition group <sup>1</sup>	0	£22,000	
Band 5 Leader of other political groups		£17,000	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of "largest opposition group" and "other political group".

#### Table 2 notes:

- a. The Panel considers that the leadership and executive roles (Band 1 and 2 salaries respectively) carry the greatest individual accountability and that 'size of population' remains a major factor in influencing levels of responsibility and the use of the three population groups (A, B and C) has therefore been retained.
- b. Committee chairs will be paid at Band 3, either Level 1 or 2 (for decision by the authority); although an individual authority may determine not to pay particular chairs.
- c. The Panel is aware of the importance placed by the Welsh Government on the value of the scrutiny function for local democracy and has noted that in total there are currently 91 chairs of scrutiny who receive senior salaries. The Panel believes that this is a clear recognition of the importance of this function and should be maintained.
- d. The stipulation that an opposition group leader or any other group leader must represent at least 10% of the council membership before qualifying for a senior salary remains unchanged.
- e. The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available to the leader of the largest opposition group.
- f. The Panel has determined that, if remunerated, a Band 5 senior salary must be paid to leaders of other political groups.
- g. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of "largest opposition group" and "other political group".

#### Payments to civic heads and deputies (civic salaries)

- 3.4 The Panel maintains the view that it is appropriate for authorities to set remuneration levels which reflect activity and responsibility of civic heads and deputies rather than the local population. The Panel is aware but surprised that many councils have set the salaries for their civic heads and deputies to accord with the population groups rather than necessarily reflecting the specific responsibilities attached to the roles. For the removal of doubt, the three established groups of principal councils calculated by population are not required to be applied in relation to payments to civic heads and deputies.
- 3.5 The Panel has set three possible levels of civic salary higher, mid and lower. Each authority must decide which level (if any) is to be paid for each of these roles according to local factors. For example, the civic head of a small council may be paid at the highest rate, whilst the civic head of a large council may be paid at the lowest rate, rates of payment to deputy civic heads may be similarly varied. This also allows for civic heads and their deputies in the same authority to

- be paid at different levels.
- 3.6 A council may decide not to apply any civic salary to the posts of civic head and/or deputy civic head.

Determination 3: The Panel has determined that (where paid) civic salaries at the following levels are payable (Table 3) and will be applied by principal councils as each considers appropriate, taking account of the anticipated workloads and responsibilities.

**Table 3:** Civic salaries (where paid) shall be payable as follows to members of principal councils

Remuneration of civic heads and deputy civic heads (inclusive of basic salaries)		
Responsibility Level	Civic heads	Deputy civic heads
Level 1	£24,000	£18,000
Level 2	£21,500	£16,000
Level 3	£19,000	£14,000

#### Table 3 notes:

- a. The posts of civic head and deputy civic head are not included in the cap (with the exception of Isle of Anglesey and Merthyr Tydfil Councils).
- b. The Panel's requirement that members should not have to pay for the cost of the support (see determination 7) that is needed to carry out their duties applies also in respect of civic heads. The Panel recognises the range of provision made for civic heads in respect of transport, secretarial support, charitable giving and clothing. The Panel does not consider it appropriate for councils to expect or require that contributions towards any such provision should be met from the net senior salaries paid to civic heads.
- 3.7. Civic roles are senior posts within councils which are distinct from political or executive leadership. In addition to chairing major meetings the civic head is the authority's 'first citizen' and 'ambassador', representing the council to a wide variety of institutions and organisations, and this requires the post holder to exemplify and promote good citizenship.
- 3.8. Deputy civic heads are often 'civic heads in waiting' for the following year, 'learning the ropes' by participating in a separate schedule of events as well as deputising for the civic head.

- 3.9. The intention of the civic allowance as defined by sections 22(5) and 24(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 remains to allow a council to pay a chair and vice-chair of a council an allowance which it thinks fit for the purposes of meeting the expenses of those offices.
- 3.10. In many instances civic heads receive secretarial support, are provided with transport for official duties and can access a separate hospitality budget which is managed and controlled by council officers.
- 3.11 The level of support given, the personal financial outlay and the level of activity during the year of office varies considerably between authorities and the size of authority does not necessarily relate to the commitment required of, or given by, civic heads.
- 3.12 All principal councils have a number of community councils within their areas and many also include town councils. Where a community council has a particularly active civic head this may have some impact on the workload of the principal council's civic head.
- 3.13 The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 allows councils to appoint a presiding member whose role it will be to chair meetings of the whole council. Where appointed, there would be a consequential reduction in the responsibilities of the respective civic head.

#### Payments to presiding members

Determination 4: The Panel has determined that, where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary. This post will count towards the cap.

Determination 5: The Panel has determined that the post of deputy presiding member will not be remunerated.

#### **Key factors underpinning the Panel's determinations:**

- 3.14 The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the responsibility of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, regulatory and related functions of local governance for the time equivalent of three days a week. Any time commitment beyond three days is an unpaid public service contribution.
- 3.15 The prescribed salary and expenses must be paid in full to each member unless an individual has independently and voluntarily opted in writing to the authority's proper officer to forego all or any element of the payment.

The following must be applied:

- 3.16 An elected member must not be remunerated for more than one senior post within his or her authority (but see section 4 on JOSCs).
- 3.17 An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary.
- 3.18 All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary.
- 3.19 If a council chooses to have more than one remunerated deputy leader, the difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other executive members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders and added to the senior salary for other executive members in order to calculate the senior salary payable to each deputy leader.
- 3.20 Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA or FRA to which they have been appointed.

#### Supporting the work of local authority elected members

- 3.21 The Panel held a series of meetings in 2015 with Chairs and members of Democratic Service Committees and Heads of Democratic Services. The Panel remains concerned that there is variation and inconsistency of support provided to members. It is important for authorities to remain aware that insufficient support undermines the ability of members to discharge their basic duties effectively.
- 3.22 The Panel expects that the support provided should take account of the specific needs of individual members. The functions of Democratic Services Committees include a requirement to review the level of support provided to members to carry out their duties and the Panel would expect these committees to carry this out and bring forward proposals to the full council as to what is considered to be reasonable. At the meetings with the Panel in 2015 Heads of Democratic Services suggested that it would be beneficial for authorities to be pro-active in sharing information and establishing benchmarks for levels of provision and good practice in how authorities support the work of elected members.
- 3.23 The Panel considers it is necessary for each elected member to have ready use of telephone and e-mail services, and to have electronic access to appropriate information via an internet connection. This comprises the necessary provision for a member to be in proper contact with council services and to maintain contact with those they represent. Many councils in Wales are committed to 'paperless working' and without electronic access a member would be significantly limited in his or her ability to discharge their duties. As indicated above it is the responsibility of each council through its Democratic Services Committee to establish its provision of support based on an assessment of the needs of its members. It would not be appropriate for such facilities only to be available within council offices within office hours. When specific training,

additional needs or matters of disability apply, each authority will need to assess any particular requirements of individual members.

Determination 6: The Panel has determined that each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee, must ensure that all its members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. All elected members should be provided with adequate telephone and email facilities and electronic access to appropriate information.

Determination 7: The Panel has determined that such support should be without cost to the individual member. Deductions must not be made from members' salaries by the respective authority as a contribution towards the cost of support which the authority has decided necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of members.

### Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official business Reimbursement of mileage costs

3.24 The Panel has determined that there will be no change to mileage rates which members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members undertaking official business within and/or outside the authority's boundaries at current HMRC rates which are:

45p per mile	Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car
25p per mile	Over 10,000 miles in a year by car
5p per passenger per mile	Passenger supplement
24p per mile	Motor cycles
20p per mile	Bicycles

3.25 Authorities should pay mileage at the prescribed rates to a member who has been a passenger in a vehicle driven by someone else provided the authority is satisfied that a cost has been incurred by the member. Travel expenses paid to councillors by their local authority are exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs.

#### Reimbursement of other travel costs

3.26 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts showing the actual cost and will be subject to any requirement or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most cost effective method of travel.

3.27 The Panel noted that in some instances members with disabilities have been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an adverse response following the publication of their travel costs. This is not the case in those authorities where travel arrangements are made directly by the authority.

#### Reimbursement of subsistence costs

£28 per day	Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not provided in the overnight charge
£200 per night	London
£95 per night	Elsewhere
£30 per night	Staying with friends and/or family

- 3.28 These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs do not then apply.
- 3.29 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family.
- 3.30 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive days. Where it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily mileage costs, then it is permissible to do so.
- 3.31 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by receipts.

#### Reimbursement of costs of care

Determination 8: All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the person providing the care.

Determination 9: All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of personal assistance needs (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the person providing the care.

- 3.32 The reimbursement of cost of care allowance is intended to enable any person whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their responsibilities as a carer or by their own requirements for personal care and assistance. The Panel recognises that there is some sensitivity concerning the publication of this legitimate expense. However the Panel urges authorities to promote this allowance and encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased engagement amongst authority members.
- 3.33 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of the population that are currently under-represented in local government but who may become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care becomes more widely known.

#### **Entitlement to family absence**

- 3.34 The Regulations relating to Family Absence for elected members of principal councils were approved by the National Assembly for Wales in November 2013.
- 3.35 The Panel considered the implications for the remuneration of such members who are given absence under the terms of the Welsh Government Regulations and the Panel's determinations are set out below.

Determination 10: An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary when taking family absence under the regulations irrespective of the attendance record immediately preceding the commencement of the family absence.

Determination 11: When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, he/she will continue to receive the salary for the duration of the absence.

Determination 12: It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not to make a substitute appointment. The elected member substituting for a senior salary holder taking family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior salary, if the authority so decides.

Determination 13: If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an addition to the maximum will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. However, this will not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it would result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such circumstances.

Determination 14: When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family absence, the Panel must be informed, within 14 days of the date of the decision, of the details including the particular post and the duration of the substitution.

Determination 15: The Council's schedule of remuneration must be amended to reflect the implication of the family absence.

# 4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC)

4.1 The Panel has set out the arrangements for the remuneration of chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Sub-committees. The payments align with those of chairs of committees of principal councils set out in Section 3 (Level 2).

The following determinations apply:

Determination 16: The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is eligible for a salary equivalent to that part of a Band 3 Level 2 senior salary that remunerates a committee chair of a principal authority (£6,700).

Determination 17: In cases where the chair is already in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £3,350.

Determination 18: The chair of a sub committee of a JOSC is eligible for a salary of £1,675.

Determination 19: In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £837.

Determination 20: Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are to be pro-rated to the duration of the task.

Determination 21: Payments made to a chair of a JOSC, or a chair of a sub committee of a JOSC, are additional to the maximum proportion of the authority's membership eligible for a senior salary. It should be noted that the statutory limit of no more than 50% of a council's membership receiving a senior salary applies (Section 142 (5) of the Measure).

Determination 22: A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible for payment.

Determination 23: Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not eligible for a co-opted member fee unless they are appointed by an authority under Section 144(5) of the Measure.

4.2 The remuneration of chairs of JOSCs (or a sub-committee of JOSCs) is not prescribed and is a matter for the constituent councils to decide whether such a post will be paid. However, if a senior salary is paid, it must be at the level set out in section 4 of this report.

# 5. Pension provision for elected members of principal councils

5.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 ("*The Measure*") provides a power to the Panel to make determinations on pension entitlement for elected members of principal councils.

Determination 24: The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) shall apply to all eligible elected members of principal councils.

# 6. Payments to members of national park authorities

- 6.1 Given the continuing reduction in public sector funding, the Panel has determined there shall be no increase from spring 2016 in the levels of basic salary for members of national park authorities.
- 6.2 The Panel has based its determinations on the following key points:
  - NPA members are drawn from two sources. Welsh Government appointees
    make up one third of the total of members and two thirds are local authority
    members nominated by constituent authorities.
  - In addition, standards committees of NPAs have co-opted members whose remuneration is included in the framework.
  - Welsh Government appointees and council nominated members are treated equally in relation to remuneration.
  - NPAs manage their work via formal authority meetings, committees and task and finish groups. Each has a Development/Management/Planning Committee and other committees include Performance and Resources and Audit and Scrutiny. Ordinary NPA members are members of at least one committee as well as being involved in site visits and inspection panels.
  - There is an expectation that members will participate in training and development.
  - The chair of an NPA has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, a
    representational role similar in some respects to that of a civic head and a
    high level of accountability. The chair is not only the leader of the authority
    but is also the public face of the particular national park and is the link with
    the Minister and AMs with whom they have regular meetings. The role
    requires a high level of commitment and time.

# Basic and senior salaries

- 6.3 The Panel has previously determined that the role of ordinary members of a NPA warranted alignment to the basic salary of a member of a principal council, to be paid for a time commitment of 42 days per year. This continues to underpin its determinations.
- 6.4 The payment of NPA and FRA chairs is set on the same basis (See Section 7). The remuneration of the chair has been aligned to that part of a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary received by a committee chair of a principal authority.
- 6.5 The Panel decided in 2014 to provide local flexibility so that an NPA can decide at which of two levels the roles of deputy chair and other committee chairs can be remunerated. An NPA may choose to pay its deputy chair and/or committee chairs a salary of either £7,300 or £6,000, commensurate with the duties to be discharged in a particular role.

6.6 The Panel has determined that up to two NPA committee chairs can be remunerated.

The Panel has made the following determinations:

Determination 25: The basic salary for NPA ordinary members should be £3,600 (42/156 x £13,300)

Determination 26: An NPA senior salary can be paid to the chair, deputy chair, and up to two committee chairs.

Determination 27: The senior salary of the chair of an NPA should be £12,300

Determination 28: The senior salary of a deputy chair and chairs of NPA committees can be paid at either of the following levels to be decided by the authority to reflect the appropriate responsibility:

£6,000 or £7,300

Determination 29: Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary.

Determination 30: An NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary.

Determination 31: Members of principal local authorities in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed.

Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official business Reimbursement of mileage costs

6.7 The Panel has decided that there will be no change to mileage rates which members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members undertaking official business within and/or outside the authority's boundaries at current HMRC rates which are:

45p per mile	Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car
25p per mile	Over 10,000 miles in a year by car
5p per passenger per mile	Passenger supplement
24p per mile	Motor cycles
20p per mile	Bicycles

6.8 Authorities should pay mileage at the prescribed rates to a member who has been a passenger in a vehicle driven by someone else provided the authority is satisfied that a cost has been incurred by the member. Travel expenses paid to councillors by their local authority are exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs.

## Reimbursement of other travel costs

- 6.9 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts showing the actual cost, and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most cost effective method of travel.
- 6.10 The Panel noted that in some instances members with disabilities have been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an adverse response following the publication of their travel costs. This is not the case in those authorities where travel arrangements are made directly by the authority.

# Reimbursement of subsistence costs

£28 per day	Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not provided in the overnight charge
£200 per night	London
£95 per night	Elsewhere
£30 per night	Staying with friends and/or family

- 6.11 These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs do not then apply.
- 6.12 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family.
- 6.13 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive days. Where it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse

- overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily mileage costs, then it is permissible to do so.
- 6.14 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by receipts.

# Reimbursement of costs of care

- 6.15 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance needs, up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on production of receipts from the carer. (See Determinations 8 & 9)
- 6.16 The reimbursement of cost of care allowance is intended to enable any person whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their responsibilities as a carer or by their own requirements for personal care and assistance. The Panel recognises that there is some sensitivity concerning the publication of this legitimate expense. However the Panel urges authorities to promote this allowance and encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased engagement amongst authority members.
- 6.17 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of the population that are currently under-represented in local government but who may become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care becomes more widely known.

# 7. Payments to members of Welsh fire and rescue authorities

- 7.1 Given the continuing reduction in public sector funding, the Panel has determined there shall be no increase from spring 2016 in the levels of salary for members of Welsh fire and rescue authorities.
- 7.2 Key points that continue to underpin the Panel's determinations for FRA member remuneration in 2016/17 are that:
  - The chair has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, and a high level of accountability especially when controversial issues relating to the emergency service arise. In addition to fire authority meetings, all FRAs have committees that include in different combinations: audit, performance management, scrutiny, human resources, resource management as well as task and finish groups and disciplinary panels. As well as attending formal meetings of the authority and committees, members are encouraged to take on a community engagement role, including visiting fire stations.
  - There is a strong training ethos in FRAs. Members are expected to participate in training and development. Induction programmes are available as well as specialist training for appeals and disciplinary hearings.
  - Training sessions often follow on from authority meetings to make the training accessible.

# **Basic and senior salaries**

- 7.3 The Panel has previously determined that the remuneration of ordinary members of an FRA should be aligned to the basic salary of a member of a principal council and that the time commitment required is in the region of 20 days per year. This remains the basis of the Panel's determinations.
- 7.4 The Panel determined that the remuneration of an FRA chair should be aligned to that part of a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary that remunerates a committee chair of a principal council.
- 7.5 The Panel determined that the remuneration of an FRA deputy chair where there is significant and sustained senior responsibility will be aligned with the Band 5 senior salary.
- 7.6 The Panel has determined that up to two FRA committee chairs can be remunerated.

The Panel has therefore determined that:

Determination 32: The basic salary for FRA ordinary members should be £1,700 (20/156 x £13,300).

Determination 33: A Fire & Rescue Authority senior salary can be paid to the chair, deputy chair, and up to two chairs of committees.

Determination 34: The senior salary of the chair of an FRA should be £10,400.

Determination 35: The senior salary of a deputy chair of an FRA, with significant and sustained senior responsibility, should be £5,400.

Determination 36: The senior salary of a chair of an FRA committee should be £5,400.

Determination 37: Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary.

Determination 38: An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary.

Determination 39: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated.

# Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official business Reimbursement of mileage costs

7.7 The Panel has decided there will be no change to mileage rates which members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members undertaking official business within and/or outside the authority's boundaries at current HMRC rates which are:

45p per mile	Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car
25p per mile	Over 10,000 miles in a year by car
5p per passenger per mile	Passenger supplement
24p per mile	Motor cycles
20p per mile	Bicycles

7.8 Authorities should pay mileage at the prescribed rates to a member who has been a passenger in a vehicle driven by someone else provided the authority is satisfied that a cost has been incurred by the member. Travel expenses paid to councillors by their local authority are exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs.

# Reimbursement of other travel costs

- 7.9 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts showing actual expense and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most cost effective method of travel.
- 7.10 The Panel noted that in some instances members with disabilities have been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an adverse response following the publication of their travel costs. This is not the case in those authorities where travel arrangements are made directly by the authority.

## Reimbursement of subsistence costs

£28 per day	Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not provided in the overnight charge
£200 per night	London
£95 per night	Elsewhere
£30 per night	Staying with friends and/or family

- 7.11 These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs do not then apply.
- 7.12 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family.
- 7.13 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive days. Where in such a case it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily mileage costs, then it is permissible to do so.
- 7.14 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by receipts.

# Reimbursement of costs of care

- 7.15 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers), and personal assistance needs, up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursements shall only be made on production of receipts from the carer. (See Determinations 8 & 9)
- 7.16 The reimbursement of costs of care allowance is intended to enable any person whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their responsibilities as a carer or by their own requirements for personal care and assistance. The Panel recognises that there is some sensitivity concerning the publication of this legitimate expense. However the Panel urges authorities to promote this allowance and encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased engagement amongst authority members.
- 7.17 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of the population that are currently under-represented in local government but who may become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care becomes more widely known.

# 8. Payments to co-opted members of principal councils, national park authorities and fire & rescue authorities<sup>11</sup>

- 8.1 The Panel has determined that a daily/half daily fee is appropriate remuneration for the important role undertaken by co-opted members of authorities. The level of payments is equivalent to the current daily rates for chairs and members of the Welsh Government's Band 2 sponsored bodies. The Panel notes there has been no uplift in these payment levels across such bodies since 2010.
- 8.2 Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs can decide on the maximum number of days in any one year for which co-opted members may be paid.
- 8.3 The determinations are set out below:

Determination 40: Principal councils, NPAs & FRAs must pay the following fees to co-opted members (Table 4) (who have voting rights).

**Table 4:** Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights)

Chairs of standards, and audit committees	£256
	(4 hours and over)
	£128 (up to 4 hours)
Ordinary members of standards committees who also chair	£226 daily fee
standards committees for community and town councils	(4 hours and over)
·	£113 (up to 4 hours)
Ordinary members of standards committees; education	£198
scrutiny committee; crime and disorder scrutiny committee	(4 hours and over)
and audit committee	£99 (up to 4 hours)

Determination 41: Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to be included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting.

Determination 42: Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can be included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the daily rate).

Determination 43: The appropriate officer within the authority can determine in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting finishes before four hours has elapsed.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This section does not apply to co-opted members of community and town councils.

Determination 44: Meetings eligible for the payment of fees include other committees and working groups (including task and finish groups), premeetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to attend.

# Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official business

# Reimbursement of mileage costs

8.4 The Panel has decided there will be no change to mileage rates which members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members undertaking official business within and/or outside the authority's boundaries at current HMRC rates which are:

45p per mile	Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car
25p per mile	Over 10,000 miles in a year by car
5p per passenger per mile	Passenger supplement
24p per mile	Motor cycles
20p per mile	Bicycles

8.5 Authorities should pay mileage at the prescribed rates to a member who has been a passenger in a vehicle driven by someone else provided the authority is satisfied that a cost has been incurred by the member. Travel expenses paid to councillors by their local authority are exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs.

# Reimbursement of other travel costs

- 8.6 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts showing actual expense, and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most cost effective method of travel.
- 8.7 The Panel noted that in some instances members with disabilities have been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an adverse response following the publication of their travel costs. This is not the case in those authorities where travel arrangements are made directly by the authority.

## Reimbursement of subsistence costs

£28 per day	Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not provided in the overnight charge
£200 per night	London
£95 per night	Elsewhere
£30 per night	Staying with friends and/or family

- 8.8 These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs do not then apply.
- 8.9 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family.
- 8.10 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive days. Where in such a case it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily mileage costs, then it is permissible to do so.
- 8.11 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by receipts.

### Reimbursement of costs of care

- 8.12 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers), and personal assistance needs up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursements shall only be made on production of receipts from the carer. (See Determinations 8 & 9)
- 8.13 The reimbursement of costs of care allowance is intended to enable any person whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their responsibilities as a carer or by their own requirements for personal care and assistance. The Panel recognises that there is some sensitivity concerning the publication of this legitimate expense. However the Panel urges authorities to promote this allowance and encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased engagement amongst authority members.
- 8.14 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of the population that are currently under-represented in local government but who may become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care becomes more widely known.

# 9. Specific or additional senior salaries

9.1 The Panel has allowed for greater flexibility through the provision for authorities to apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration Framework, or which could not be accommodated within the maximum number of senior salaries relating to the authority.

Determination 45: The Panel has determined to include a provision for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration Framework.

- 9.2 Guidance to local authorities on the application process was issued in April 2014 and incorporated the following principles:
  - a. The total number of senior salaries cannot exceed fifty percent<sup>12</sup> of the membership (this applies to principal councils; different restrictions will apply to national park authorities and fire and rescue authorities).
  - b. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole (this cannot be delegated) prior to submission to the Panel.
  - c. There must be clear evidence that the post/posts have additional responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and duration.
  - d. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the role to be considered by the authority as a whole.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 Section 142 (5) The proportion fixed by the Panel in accordance with subsection (4) may not exceed fifty percent unless the consent of the Welsh Ministers has been obtained.

# 10. Payments to members of community and town councils

- 10.1 The Panel has had responsibility for the remuneration of community and town councils since the Measure of 2011 and its first determinations for such members came into effect in the financial year 2013/2014.
- 10.2 Determinations 46 to 54 are permissive powers, each of which requires a formal decision by each community or town council. Where a community or a town council does make such a decision, it must apply to all its members at the levels determined by the Panel. An individual member may make a personal decision to elect to forgo part or all of the entitlement to any of these allowances by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the council.
- 10.3 The Panel has made considerable efforts to consult with the 735 community and town councils in Wales over the past three years with limited success. Its survey in 2014 achieved a return rate of only 11.5%. Members of the Panel have researched council websites and have attended conferences of One Voice Wales in order to engage with members. One Voice Wales has undertaken a further survey on behalf of the Panel.

# **Costs and expenses**

10.4 In order to compensate members of community and town councils for expenses and costs involved in carrying out their duties, the Panel has determined that councils should be authorised to make a payment to each member. This payment may be taxable – this is a matter for each individual member to establish with her/his tax office.

Determination 46: Community and town councils are authorised to make a payment to each of their members of a maximum amount of £100 per year for costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, information technology, consumables etc.

# **Senior roles**

10.5 The Panel recognises that specific member roles especially within the larger community and town councils, for example a committee chair, can involve greater responsibility, it has therefore determined that councils should be authorised to pay up to three responsibility payments for specified roles.

Determination 47: Community and town councils are authorised to make an additional annual payment not exceeding £500 to up to 3 members in recognition of specific responsibilities.

## Civic allowance

10.6 Recognising that some mayors and chairs of community and town councils and their deputies are very active during their year of office (potentially more active in some respects than the mayors or chairs of the principal councils covering their council area), the Panel has determined that community and town councils should be authorised to pay an allowance for these roles.

Determination 48: Community and town councils are authorised to provide a civic allowance to the mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair of the council at an amount that they deem appropriate to undertake the functions of that office.

# Reimbursement of travel and subsistence when undertaking approved duties

10.7 The Panel has decided to change the arrangements under which community and town councils may reimburse travel costs for their members undertaking approved duties both within and outside the authority's boundaries. (Previously community and town councils were only authorised to reimburse travel costs on approved duties outside the area of the council.)

# **Reimbursement of Mileage**

Determination 49: Community and town councils are authorised to make payments to each of their members in respect of travel costs for attending approved duties both within and outside the area of the council. <sup>13</sup> Such payments must be the actual costs of travel by public transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as below:

- 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year.
- 25p per mile over 10,000 miles.
- 5p per passenger per mile passenger supplement.
- 24p per mile for private motor cycles.
- 20p per mile for bicycles.

# Reimbursement of other travel costs

10.8 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts showing the actual cost and will be subject to any requirement or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most cost effective method of travel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Authorities should pay mileage at the prescribed rates to a member who has been a passenger in a vehicle driven by someone else provided the authority is satisfied that a cost has been incurred by the member.

### Reimbursement of subsistence

Determination 50: Community and town councils are authorised to reimburse subsistence expenses to their members for attending approved duties outside the area of the council at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of receipted claims:

- £28 per day allowance for meals, including breakfast where not provided.
- £200 London overnight.
- £95 elsewhere overnight.
- £30 staying with friends and/or family overnight.

Determination 51: Community and town councils are authorised to pay an Attendance Allowance to each of their members for attending approved duties outside the area of the council as follows:

- £16.23 for a period not exceeding 4 hours.
- £32.46 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours.

Determination 52: Community and town councils are authorised to pay a Financial Loss Allowance to each of their members where such loss has actually occurred, for attending approved duties outside the area of the council as follows:

- £30.05 for a period not exceeding 4 hours.
- £60.11 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours.
- £60.11 plus such amount as is payable above as appropriate for a period exceeding 24 hours.

Councillors are eligible for either an attendance allowance or financial loss allowance, but not both for the same approved duty.

# Care allowance

10.9 In order to address issues of democratic participation and diversity, the Panel has decided to permit payments to members for the care of dependent children and others whilst attending meetings and other approved duties.

Determination 53: Community and town councils are authorised to provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and

adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the carer.

Determination 54: Community and town councils are authorised to provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of personal assistance needs (provided by informal or formal carers), up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the carer.

# **Publicity requirements**

10.10 There is a requirement on community and town councils to publish details of all payments made to individual members. This information must be published (for example, on council websites) and provided to the Panel by email or by post no later than 30 September following the end of the year to which the payments relate. The Panel notes with concern that this requirement has not been complied with by many councils and draws attention to the requirements stipulated at Annex 4.

# These payments are:

- Costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, information technology, consumables etc.
- Responsibility payments
- Allowances made to a mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair.
- Attendance Allowance.
- Financial Loss Allowance.
- Costs incurred in respect of travel and subsistence
- Care allowance.

# 11. Salaries of heads of paid service of principal councils and fire and rescue authorities and chief officer of principal councils

- 11.1 Section 63 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amended the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting section 143A. This enables the Panel to take a view on anything in the Pay Policy Statements of these authorities that relates to the salary of the head of paid service (normally the chief executive or chief fire officer). Section 39 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 further amended the Measure extending this function to include Chief Officers of Principal Councils.
- 11.2 The Welsh Government has issued amended guidance to the Panel which can be found at Annex 6. This sets the basis on which the Panel will carry out the function contained in the legislation.
- 11.3 In essence the functions of the Panel and the requirements on authorities established by the legislation and the subsequent guidance are:
  - a) If a principal council intends to change the salary of the head of paid service or chief officer, or if a fire and rescue authority intends to change the salary of its head of paid service it must consult the Panel unless the change is in keeping with changes applied to other officers of that authority (whether the change is an increase or decrease). 'Salary' includes payments under a contract for services as well as payments of salary under an employment contract.
  - b) The authority must have regard to the recommendation(s) of the Panel when reaching its decision.
  - c) The Panel may seek any information that it considers necessary to reach a conclusion and produce a recommendation. The authority is obliged to provide the information sought by the Panel.
  - d) The Panel may publish any recommendation that it makes. It is the intention that, in the interests of transparency, it will normally do so.
  - e) The Panel's recommendation(s) could indicate:
    - approval of the authority's proposal
    - express concerns about the proposal
    - recommend variations to the proposal

as long as these comply with any guidance issued by the Welsh Government.

11.4 The Panel also has a general power to review the Pay Policy Statements of authorities so far as they relate to the heads of paid service.

- 11.5 It is important to note that the Panel will not decide the amount that an individual head of paid service will receive.
- 11.6 The Panel is very aware that this additional function is significantly different from its statutory responsibilities in relation to members' remuneration. However, it will ensure that it undertakes this role with clarity and openness, taking into account all the relevant factors in respect of specific individual cases. Authorities are encouraged to consult the Panel at an early stage in their decision making on such matters. This will enable the Panel to respond in a timely manner.
- 11.7 Future Annual Reports will continue to include appropriate information on any recommendation(s) made by the Panel in respect of this function during the previous year.

# 12. Compliance with Panel requirements

# The Panel's remit under the Measure

- 12.1 Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to require a relevant authority<sup>14</sup> to comply with the requirements imposed on it by an Annual Report of the Panel and further enables the Panel to monitor the compliance of relevant authorities with the Panel's determinations.
- 12.2 A relevant authority must implement the Panel's determinations in this report from the date of its annual meeting.

# Monitoring compliance

- 12.3 The Panel will monitor the compliance with the determinations in this Annual Report by relevant authorities against the following requirements:
  - (i) A relevant authority must maintain an annual **Schedule of Member Remuneration** (IRPW Regulations 4 & 5). Guidance at Annex 3 sets out the content which must be included in the Schedule.
  - (ii) A relevant authority must make arrangements for the Schedule's publication within the authority area (IRPW Regulation 46) and send the Schedule to the Panel as soon as practicable and not later than 31 July in the year to which it applies. Annex 4 provides further details of the publicity requirements.
  - (iii) Any amendments to the Schedule made during the year must be conveyed to the Panel as soon as possible after the amendment is made.

Note: The above requirements do not apply to community and town councils at this time. The following applies to all authorities.

(iv) A relevant authority must make arrangements for publication within the authority area of the total sum paid by it to each member and co-opted member in respect of salary (basic, senior and civic), allowances, fees and reimbursements (in accordance with Annex 4 that sets out the content that must be included in the Publicity Requirements) as soon as practicable and no later than 30 September following the close of the year to which it relates. It must be submitted to the Panel no later than that date.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Interpretation of "Relevant Authority" provided in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations, Part 1, 'Interpretation'.

# Annex 1: The Panel's determinations for 2016/17

- 1. Basic salary in 2016/17 for elected members of principal councils shall remain at £13,300.
- 2. The Panel has determined that senior salary levels in 2016/17 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in table 2.
- 3. The Panel has determined that (where paid) civic salaries at the following levels are payable (Table 3) and will be applied by principal councils as each considers appropriate, taking account of the anticipated workloads and responsibilities.
- 4. The Panel has determined that, where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid a Band 3 Level 1 senior salary. This post will count towards the cap.
- 5. The Panel has determined that the post of deputy presiding member will not be remunerated.
- 6. The Panel has determined that each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee, must ensure that all its members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. All elected members should be provided with adequate telephone and email facilities and electronic access to appropriate information.
- 7. The Panel has determined that such support should be without cost to the individual member. Deductions must not be made from members' salaries by the respective authority as a contribution towards the cost of support which the authority has decided necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of members.
- 8. All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the person providing the care.
- 9. All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of personal assistance needs (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the person providing the care.
- 10. An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary when taking family absence under the regulations irrespective of the attendance record immediately preceding the commencement of the family absence.
- 11. When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, he/she will continue to receive the salary for the duration of the absence.

- 12. It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not to make a substitute appointment. The elected member substituting for a senior salary holder taking family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior salary, if the authority so decides.
- 13. If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an addition to the maximum will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. However, this will not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it would result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such circumstances.
- 14. When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family absence, the Panel must be informed, within 14 days of the date of the decision, of the details including the particular post and the duration of the substitution.
- 15. The Council's schedule of remuneration must be amended to reflect the implication of the family absence.
- 16. The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is eligible for a salary equivalent to that part of a Band 3 Level 2 senior salary that remunerates a committee chair of a principal authority, (£6,700).
- 17. In cases where the chair is already in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £3,350.
- 18. The chair of a sub committee of a JOSC is eligible for a salary of £1,675.
- 19. In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be £837.
- 20. Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are to be pro-rated to the duration of the task.
- 21. Payments made to a chair of a JOSC, or a chair of a sub committee of a JOSC, are additional to the maximum proportion of the authority's membership eligible for a senior salary. It should be noted that the statutory limit of no more than 50% of a council's membership receiving a senior salary applies (Section 142 (5) of the Measure).
- 22. A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible for payment.
- 23. Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not eligible for a co-opted member fee unless they are appointed by an authority under Section 144(5) of the Measure.
- 24. The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) shall apply to all eligible elected members of principal councils.

- 25. The basic salary for NPA ordinary members should be £3,600 (42/156 x £13,300).
- 26. An NPA senior salary can be paid to the chair, deputy chair, and up to two committee chairs.
- 27. The senior salary of the chair of an NPA should be £12,300.
- 28. The senior salary of a deputy chair and chairs of NPA committees can be paid at either of the following levels to be decided by the authority to reflect the appropriate responsibility:

£6,000 or £7,300

- 29. Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary.
- 30. An NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary.
- 31. Members of principal local authorities in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed.
- 32. The basic salary for FRA ordinary members should be £1,700 (20/156 x £13,300).
- 33. A Fire & Rescue Authority senior salary can be paid to the chair, deputy chair, and up to two chairs of committees.
- 34. The senior salary of the chair of an FRA should be £10,400.
- 35. The senior salary of a deputy chair of an FRA, with significant and sustained senior responsibility, should be £5,400.
- 36. The senior salary of a chair of an FRA committee should be £5,400.
- 37. Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary.
- 38. An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary.
- 39. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated.
- 40. Principal councils, NPAs & FRAs must pay the following fees to co-opted members (Table 4) (who have voting rights).
- 41. Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to be included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting.

- 42. Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can be included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the daily rate).
- 43. The appropriate officer within the authority can determine in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting finishes before four hours has elapsed.
- 44. Meetings eligible for the payment of fees include other committees and working groups (including task and finish groups), pre-meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to attend.
- 45. The Panel has determined to include a provision for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration Framework.
- 46. Community and town councils are authorised to make a payment to each of their members of a maximum amount of £100 per year for costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, information technology, consumables etc.
- 47. Community and town councils are authorised to make an additional annual payment not exceeding £500 to up to 3 members in recognition of specific responsibilities.
- 48. Community and town councils are authorised to provide a civic allowance to the mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair of the council at an amount that they deem appropriate to undertake the functions of that office.
- 49. Community and town councils are authorised to make payments to each of their members in respect of travel costs for attending approved duties both within and outside the area of the council. <sup>15</sup> Such payments must be the actual costs of travel by public transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as below:

45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year.

25p per mile over 10,000 miles.

5p per passenger per mile – passenger supplement.

24p per mile for private motor cycles.

20p per mile for bicycles.

50. Community and town councils are authorised to reimburse subsistence expenses to their members for attending approved duties outside the area of the council at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of receipted claims:

£28 per day allowance for meals, including breakfast where not provided.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Authorities should pay mileage at the prescribed rates to a member who has been a passenger in a vehicle driven by someone else provided the authority is satisfied that a cost has been incurred by the member.

£200 – London overnight.

£95 – elsewhere overnight.

£30 – staying with friends and/or family overnight.

51. Community and town councils are authorised to pay an Attendance Allowance to each of their members for attending approved duties outside the area of the council as follows:

£16.23 for a period not exceeding 4 hours. £32.46 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours.

52. Community and town councils are authorised to pay a Financial Loss Allowance to each of their members where such loss has actually occurred, for attending approved duties outside the area of the council as follows:

£30.05 for a period not exceeding 4 hours.

£60.11 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours.

£60.11 plus such amount as is payable as appropriate for a period exceeding 24 hours.

- 53. Community and town councils are authorised to provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the person providing the care.
- 54. Community and town councils are authorised to provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the care of personal assistance needs (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursement shall only be made on presentation of receipts from the person providing the care.

# Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations:

# a) for the remuneration of members and co-opted members of relevant authorities

# b) for functions relating to the salaries of heads of paid service of local authorities

### Introduction

Part 8 (sections 141 to 160) and schedules 2 and 3 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (*the Measure*) set out the arrangements for the payments and pensions for members of relevant authorities and the functions and responsibilities of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel).

Sections 62 to 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amends sections 142, 143, 144, 147, 148 and 151 of the Measure and confers additional powers on the Panel.

The powers contained in part 8 and schedules 2 and 3 of the Measure (as amended) have replaced the following Statutory Instruments:

- The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of County and County Borough Councils and National Park Authorities) (Wales) Regulations 2002 (No. 1895 (W.196)).
- The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Fire Authorities) (Wales) Regulations 2004 (No. 2555 (W.227)).
- The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (No.1086 (W.115)).

The Measure also has replaced the sections of the Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000 relating to payments to councillors in Wales.

Allowances for members of community and town councils are set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community Councils) (Wales) Regulations 2003 (No. 895(W.115)) were revoked from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2013.

# Part 1

# General

1. a. The short title of these Regulations is: "IRPW Regulations".

- b. The IRPW Regulations came into force on 1 April 2012. The implementation date for each of the relevant authorities is set out in the Annual Report or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- c. Authorities are required to produce a schedule of payments to members and co-opted members no later than the 31<sup>st</sup> July each year, for submission to the Panel and publication (see paragraph 46).

# Interpretation

- 2. In the IRPW Regulations:
  - "The 1972 Act" means the Local Government Act 1972.
  - "The 2000 Act" means the Local Government Act 2000.
  - "The 2013 Act" means the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013.
  - "Allowance" means the actual or maximum amount which may be reimbursed to members and co-opted members of a relevant authority for expenses necessarily incurred when carrying out the official business of the relevant authority.
  - "Annual report" means a report produced by the Panel in accordance with section 145 of the Measure.
  - "Approved duty" in relation to community and town councils has the meaning as set out in Part 5 of these Regulations.
  - "Attendance Allowance" in relation to community or town councils has the meaning set out in Part 5 of these Regulations.
  - "Authority" means a relevant authority in Wales as defined in Section 144(2) of the Measure, and includes a local authority (county or county borough council), a national park authority and a Welsh fire and rescue authority, a community or town council.
  - "Basic Salary" has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 6 of these Regulations, and may be qualified as "LA Basic Salary" to refer to the basic salary of a member of a principal council; "NPA Basic Salary" to refer to the basic salary of a member of a national park authority; and "FRA Basic Salary" to refer to the basic salary of a member of a Welsh fire and rescue authority.
  - "Care allowance" has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 21 of these Regulations.
  - "Chief Officer of a principal authority as contained in the Localism Act 2011.
  - "Civic Head" is the person elected by the council to carry out the functions of the chair of that council and is designated as mayor or chair.
  - "Committee" includes a sub-committee.

- "Community or town council" means in relation to Part 8 of the Measure, a community council as defined in section 33 of the Local Government Act 1972 or a town council in accord with section 245B of the same Act.
- "Consultation draft" means the draft of an Annual or Supplementary report under Section 146 (7) or 147(8) of the Measure, representations on which must be taken into account by the Panel.
- "Constituent authority" for national park authorities this is a local authority falling within the area of a national park authority; for Welsh fire and rescue authorities it is a local authority falling within the area of a fire and rescue authority.
- "Controlling group" means a political group in a local authority where any of its members form part of the executive.
- "Co-opted Member" has the meaning contained in section 144 (5) of the Measure, that is those with the right to vote on matters within the purview of the committee on which they serve.
- "Co-opted Member fee" has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 19 of these Regulations.
- "Democratic Services Committee" means the local authority committee established under section 11 of the Measure.
- "Deputy Civic Head" is a person elected by the council to deputise for the mayor or chair of that council.
- "Executive" means the executive of an authority in a form as specified in sections 11(2) to (5) of the 2000 Act, as amended by section 34 of the Measure.
- "Executive arrangements" has the meaning given by section 10(1) of the 2000 Act.
- "Family absence" as defined in Section 142 (2) (b) of the Measure has the meaning given to it by Part 2 of the Measure, and contained in the Regulations relating thereto.
- "Financial Loss Allowance in relation to community or town councils has the meaning as set out in Part 5 of the Regulations.
- "Fire and rescue authority" means an authority constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act applies.
- "Head of paid service" means as designated under section 4(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
- Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee means a committee or sub committee set up by two or more principal councils under the Local Authority (Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2013.
- "Largest opposition group" means a political group other than a controlling group which has a greater number of members than any other political group in the authority.

- "Local authority" means a county or county borough council.
- "Member" means in respect of a local authority or a community or town council a person who has been elected to serve as a councillor for that authority; for a national park authority means a member appointed by a constituent authority and also a person appointed by Welsh Ministers; for Welsh fire and rescue authorities means a member appointed by a constituent authority.
- "National Park authority" means a national park authority established under section 63 of the Environment Act 1995.
- "Official business" has the meaning contained in Section 142 (10) of the Measure in relation to the payment of allowances for care, travel and subsistence as reimbursement of expenses necessarily incurred by members and co-opted members of a relevant authority (excluding community and town councils) when:
  - a. Attending a meeting of the authority or any committee of the authority or any body to which the authority makes appointments or nominations or of any committee of such a body.
  - b. Attending a meeting of any association of authorities of which the authority is a member.
  - c. Attending a meeting the holding of which is authorised by the authority or by a committee of the authority or by a joint committee of the authority and one or more other authorities.
  - d. Attending any training or development event approved by the authority or its executive.
  - e. A duty undertaken for the purpose of or in connection with the discharge of the functions of an executive within the meaning of Part 2 of the 2000 Act, as amended.
  - f. A duty undertaken in pursuance of a standing order which requires a member or members to be present when tender documents are opened.
  - g. A duty undertaken in connection with the discharge of any function of the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises.
  - h. A duty undertaken by members of principal councils in connection with constituency or ward responsibilities which arise from the discharge of local authority functions.
  - i. Any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of class so approved, undertaken for the purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge of the functions of the authority or any of its committees.
- "Other political group" means a political group other than a controlling group or the largest opposition group (if any) which comprises not less than ten per cent of the members of that authority.
- "Overview and Scrutiny Committee" means a committee of the authority which has the powers set out in sections 21(2) and (3) of the 2000 Act, as amended by Part 6 of the Measure.

- "Panel" means the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out in section 141(1) and schedule 2 of the Measure.
- "Pay policy statement" means a statement produced by a relevant authority under section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.
- "Presiding Member" means a member of a principal council who has been designated by that council to carry out functions in relation to the chairing of its meetings and proceedings.
- "Principal council" means a county or county borough council.
- "Proper officer" has the same meaning as in section 270(3) of the 1972 Act.
- "Public body" means a body as defined in section 67(b) of the 2013 Act.
- "Qualifying provision" means a provision that makes a variation to a previous decision of the Panel. (Section 65 (c) of the 2013 Act).
- "Qualifying relevant authority" is an authority within the meaning of section
   63 of the 2013 Act, required to produce a pay policy statement.
- "Relevant authority" is set out in Section 144(2) of the Measure (as amended) and in section 64 of the 2013 Act and, for the purposes of these Regulations, includes a local authority/principal council, a community or town council, a national park authority and a Welsh fire and rescue authority.
- "Relevant matters" are as defined in Section 142(2) of the Measure.
- "Schedule" means a list setting out the authority's decisions in respect of payments to be made during the year (as relating to that authority) to all members and co-opted members of that authority.
- "Senior Salary" has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 11 of these
  Regulations and may be qualified as "Local Authority/Principal council
  Senior Salary" to refer to the senior salary of a member of a principal
  council; "National Park Senior Salary" to refer to the senior salary of a
  member of a National Park authority; or "Fire and Rescue authority Senior
  Salary" to refer to the senior salary of a member of a Fire and Rescue
  authority.
- "Supplementary report" has the meaning contained in section 146(4 to 8) of the Measure.
- "Travelling and subsistence allowance" has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 25 of these Regulations.
- "Year" has the following meanings:

"financial year" – the period of twelve months ending 31 March;

"calendar year" – the period of twelve months ending 31 December;

"municipal year" – the year commencing on the date of the annual meeting of the local authority and ending the day before the annual meeting of the following year; for national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities it is the period of up to twelve months following the annual meeting of the authority.

# Part 2: Schedule of member/co-opted member remuneration

### Commencement of term of office

- 3. The term of office of:
  - A member of a local authority or community or town council begins on the date which that member makes a declaration of acceptance of that office under section 83(1) of the 1972 Act.
  - A councillor member of a national park authority begins on the date on which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and the term of office of a Welsh Government appointed member begins on the date of that appointment. The term of office of the chair and deputy chair of the national park authority begins on the date of election by that authority to that office.
  - A councillor member of a Welsh fire and rescue authority begins on the date on which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and the term of office of the chair and deputy chair of the fire and rescue authority begins on the date of election by that authority to that office.
  - A co-opted member of a relevant authority begins on the date of appointment by the relevant authority.

# Schedule of member remuneration (the Schedule) (does not apply to community or town councils – see Part 5)

4. An authority must produce annually, a schedule of payments it intends to make to its members and co-opted members. The amount of those payments must accord with the Panel's determinations made for that year in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. The Schedule must be produced no later than four weeks following the annual meeting of the authority.

## Amendment to the Schedule

5. An authority may amend the Schedule at any time during the year (as relating to the authority) provided that such amendments accord with the Panel's determinations for that year.

# Basic salary

6. An authority must provide for the payment of a basic salary, as determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports, to each of its members. The amount of the salary must be the same for each member. For principal councils only, this salary remains payable during a period of family absence.

- 7. A member may not receive more than one basic salary from a relevant authority, but a member of one relevant authority may receive a further basic salary by being appointed as a member of another relevant authority (except in the case as indicated in paragraph 16).
- 8. The amount of the basic salary will be set in accordance with Section 142(3) of the Measure and will be one of the following:
  - The amount the authority must pay to a member of the authority.
  - The maximum amount that the authority may pay to a member of the authority.
- 9. Where the term of office of a member begins or ends other than at the beginning or end of the year (as relating to the authority), the entitlement of that member is to such proportion of the basic salary as the number of days during which the member's term of office subsists during that year bears to the number of days in that year.
- 10. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member of an authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the basic salary payable to that member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) of the Measure).

# **Senior salary**

- 11. Subject to paragraphs 12 to 18 an authority can make payments of a senior salary to members that it has given specific responsibilities. Such payments must accord with the Panel's determination for the year (as relating to the authority) that the payments are made and must be set out in the Schedule of that authority. For principal councils only, a senior salary will remain payable during the family absence of the office holder.
- 12. The Panel will prescribe in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the following:
  - The categories of members eligible for the payment of a senior salary which may not be the same for all authorities or categories of authorities.
  - The discretion available to authorities in relation to the payment of senior salaries which may not be the same for all authorities or categories of authorities.
- 13. The amount of the senior salaries payable will be in accordance with section 142(3) of the Measure and specify:
  - The amount that a relevant authority must pay to a member of the authority.
  - The maximum amount that a relevant authority may pay to a member of the authority.

- 14. The Senior Salary will comprise an amalgam of the basic salary and an additional amount for the relevant specific responsibility determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. This may not be the same for all authorities or categories of authorities.
- 15. The Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports will determine either the maximum proportion of its membership or the total number of members that an authority can pay as senior salaries. The percentage may not exceed fifty percent without the express approval of Welsh Ministers (Section 142(5) of the Measure). For principal councils only, the maximum proportion or number may be exceeded to include payment of a senior salary to an additional member who is appointed to provide temporary cover for the family absence of a senior salary office holder (subject to the 50% limit). For national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities, senior salary payments will be restricted to specified post-holders as determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports.
- 15(a) Payments to chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Sub Committees are additional to the maximum proportion of its membership that an authority can pay as senior salaries subject to the overall maximum of fifty percent as contained in Section 142(5) of the Measure. The Panel will determine the amounts of such payments in an Annual or Supplementary Report.
- 16. An authority must not pay more than one senior salary to any member. A principal council member in receipt of a senior salary as leader or executive member of a local authority (determined as full-time by the Panel) may not receive a second salary as a member appointed to serve on a national park authority or a Welsh fire and rescue authority.
- 16(a). Paragraph 16 does not apply to payments made to a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee who is in receipt of a senior salary for a role that is not classified as full time equivalent. It continues to apply to leaders or members of the executive.
- 17. Where a member does not have, throughout the year specific responsibilities that allow entitlement to a senior salary, that member's payment is to be such proportion of the salary as the number of days during which that member has such special responsibility bears to the number of days in that year.
- 18. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payments of the member's senior salary for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) of the Measure). If the partial suspension relates only to the specific responsibility element of the payment, the member may retain the basic salary.

# **Co-opted member payment**

- 19. A relevant authority must provide for the payment of a fee to a co-opted member as determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. In relation to this regulation 'co-opted member' means a member as determined in Section 144(5) of the Measure and set out in paragraph 2 of these Regulations.
- 20. Where a co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from an authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payment of a co-opted member fee for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) of the Measure).

#### **Allowances**

### Care allowances

- 21. Authorities must provide for the payment to members and co-opted members of an authority an allowance ("care allowance") in respect of such expenses of arranging the care of children or dependants or in respect of the personal care requirements of a member as are necessarily incurred in carrying out official business as a member or co-opted member of that authority. Payments under this paragraph must not be made:
  - In respect of any child over the age of fifteen years or dependant unless the member/co-opted member satisfies the authority that the child or dependant required supervision which has caused the member to incur expenses that were necessary in respect of the care of that child or dependant in the carrying out of the duties of a member or co-opted member.
  - To more than one member/co-opted member of the authority in relation to the care of the same child or dependant.
  - Of more than one care allowance to a member or co-opted member of the authority who is unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the authority that the member/co-opted member has to make separate arrangements for the care of different children or dependants.
- 22. The maximum amount of the care allowance payable by an authority is to be determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports.
- 23. Where a member/co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the care allowance payable to that member/co-opted member in receipt of the responsibilities or duties from which that member/co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) of the Measure).
- 24. An authority's Schedule must stipulate the maximum amount of the care allowance payable each month and its arrangements for making claims, taking full account of the Panel's determinations in this respect.

# Travel and subsistence allowances

25. Subject to paragraphs 26 and 27 below a member or co-opted member is entitled to receive payments from the authority by way of travelling and subsistence allowances at rates determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. Such allowances are in respect of expenditure incurred by a member or co-opted member in the performance of the official business of the authority.

# (Paragraphs 26 & 27 apply only to principal councils)

- 26. Payment of a subsistence allowance to a local authority member for the performance of official business within the boundaries of a county or county borough where s/he is a member should only be made when the authority is satisfied that it can be justified on economic grounds. This does not apply in respect of co-opted members of a local authority who live outside that authority.
- 27. A local authority may make provision, subject to any limitations it thinks fit, for members to claim mileage expenses for official business in connection with constituency or ward responsibilities where they arise out of the discharge of the functions of the county or county borough.
- 28. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers), travelling and subsistence allowances payable to that member/co-opted member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) of the Measure).

# Part 3: Further provisions

# **Pensions**

- 29. Under Section 143 of the Measure, the Panel may make determinations in respect of pension arrangements for local authority members in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. Such determinations may:
  - Describe the description of members for whom a local authority will be required to pay a pension.
  - Describe the relevant matters in respect of which a local authority will be required to pay a pension.
  - Make different decisions for different principal councils.

# Allowances to support the function of a local authority member

30. A local authority must provide for the requirements of a member to undertake their role and responsibilities more effectively. The way in which this support should be provided is determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports.

#### Payment of expenses for official and courtesy visits

31. The arrangements contained in Section 176 of the Local Government Act 1972 will continue to apply but no payment may be made to a person under that arrangement when a payment has been made to that person pursuant to any payment made under these Regulations.

#### Arrangements in relation to family absence

32. Part 2 of the Measure sets out the rights of local authority members in relation to family absence. The Panel will set out its determinations and the administrative arrangements in relation to the payment of salaries and allowances by principal councils in this respect in its Annual or Supplementary Reports.

#### Part 4: Salaries, allowances or fees

#### Repayment of salaries, allowances or fees

- 33. An authority must require that such part of a salary, allowance or fee be repaid where payment has already been made in respect of any period during which the member or co-opted member concerned:
  - is suspended or partially suspended from that member's/co-opted member's duties or responsibilities in accordance with Part 3 of the 2000 Act or Regulations made under that Act.
  - ceases to be a member or co-opted member of the authority.
  - or in any way is not entitled to receive a salary, allowance or fee in respect of that period.

#### Forgoing salaries, allowances or fees

34. Under Section 154 of the Measure, any member or co-opted member may by notice in writing to the proper officer of the authority elect to forgo any part of their entitlement to a salary, allowance or fee under the determination of the Panel for that particular year (as relating to the authority).

## Part 5: Specific provisions relating to community and town councils ("the council")

#### Interpretation

35. For the purposes of this Part the term member means both an elected member and a co-opted member.

#### Allowances

#### 36. Allowances:

- a) The council can if it so determines make an annual payment to members in respect of costs incurred in carrying out the role of a member. The maximum amount payable will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- b) The council can if it so determines make payments to members in respect of costs of travel for attending approved duties outside the area of the council. The amounts claimable will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- c) The council can if it so determines reimburse subsistence expenses to its members when attending approved duties outside the area of the council. The arrangements for reimbursement will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- d) The council can if it so determines pay an Attendance Allowance to its members for attending approved duties outside the area of the council. The Allowance will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- e) The council can if it so determines pay a Financial Loss Allowance to its members where such loss has occurred for attending approved duties outside the area of the council. The Allowances will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- f) The council can if it so determines pay an allowance to the chair or mayor of the council for the purposes of undertaking the role of that office. The allowance will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel.
- g) The council can if it so determines pay a responsibility allowance to members as stipulated in the Annual Report of the Panel.
- h) The council can if it so determines pay a care allowance as stipulated in the Annual Report of the Panel.
- 37. A member is not entitled to more than one Attendance Allowance in respect of any period of 24 hours or if that member claims a Financial Loss Allowance for the same period.
- 38. A member may elect to forgo any part of an entitlement to an allowance under these Regulations by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the council.
- 39. A member making a claim for Attendance or Financial Loss Allowance must sign a statement that the member has not made and will not make any other claim in respect of the matter to which the claim relates.
- 40 "Approved Duty" under this Part means:

- Attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee or subcommittee of the council or of any other body to which the council makes appointments or nominations or of any committee or sub-committee of such a body.
- ii. Attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the council or a committee or sub-committee of the council, or a joint committee of the council and one or more councils, or a sub-committee of such a joint committee provided that at least two members of the council have been invited and where the council is divided into political groupings at least two such groups have been invited.
- iii. Attendance at a meeting of any association of councils of which the council is a member.
- iv. Attendance at any training or development event approved by the council.
- v. Any other duty approved the council or duty of a class approved by the council for the discharge of its functions or any of its committees or sub-committees.

#### Part 6: Miscellaneous

#### **Arrangements for payments**

41. The Schedule of an authority must set out the arrangements for the payment of salaries, allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of that authority. Such payments may be made at such times and at such intervals as determined by the authority.

#### **Claims**

- 42. An authority must specify a time limit from the date on which an entitlement to travelling or subsistence allowance arises during which a claim for those allowances must be made by the person to whom they are payable. However, this does not prevent an authority from making a payment where the allowance is not claimed within the period specified.
- 43. Any claim for payment of travelling or subsistence allowance in accordance with these Regulations (excluding claims for travel by private motor vehicle) shall be accompanied by appropriate receipts proving actual expenses.

#### **Avoidance of duplication**

44. A claim for a payment of travelling allowance or subsistence allowance must include, or be accompanied by, a statement signed by the member or co-opted member that the member/co-opted member has not made and will not make any other claim in respect of the matter to which the claim relates.

#### Records of salaries, allowances and fees

- 45. An authority must keep a record of the payments made in accordance with these Regulations. Such record must:
  - Specify the name of the recipient and the amount and nature of each payment.
  - Be available, at all reasonable times, for inspection (without charge) by any local government elector (within the meaning of section 270(1) of the 1972 Act) for the area of the authority.
  - Allow a person who is entitled to inspect the record to make a copy of any
    part of it upon payment of such reasonable fee as the authority may require.

#### **Publicity requirements**

(The required content of publicity requirements is given at Annex 4)

- 46. An authority must, as soon as practicable after determining its Schedule of Remuneration for the year under these Regulations and any Report of the Panel and not later than 31 July of the year to which the Schedule refers, make arrangements for the Schedule's publication within the authority's area. (This section does not apply to community and town councils).
- 47. As soon as practicable and no later than 30 September following the end of a year an authority must make arrangements for the publication within the authority's area, the total sum paid by it to each member/co-opted member in respect of basic salary, senior salary, co-opted member fee, care, travel and subsistence allowances. (This section applies to all relevant authorities).
- 48. In the same timescale and in the same manner, a local authority must make arrangements for the publication of any further remuneration received by a member nominated or appointed to another relevant authority. (This section applies only to principal councils).

#### **Publicising the reports of the Panel**

- 49. Under Section 146(7) (a) and (b) of the Measure, the Panel will send a consultation draft of its Annual Report or Supplementary Report to all relevant authorities for circulation to authority members and co-opted members, so that representations can be made by members/co-opted members to the Panel, normally in a period of eight weeks.
- 50. The Panel will determine in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the arrangements publicising its Reports in accordance with Section 151 and 152 of the Measure.

#### Monitoring compliance with the Panel's determinations

51. Section 153 of the Measure determines that relevant authorities must comply with the requirements imposed by the Panel in its Annual Reports. It also empowers the Panel to monitor the payments made by relevant authorities and for it to require the provision of information that it specifies. The requirements under this section will be set out in the Annual Report of the Panel.

#### Annex 3: Schedule of member remuneration

1. Principal councils, national park authorities (NPAs) and Welsh fire and rescue authorities (FRAs) (but not community and town councils) must maintain an annual Schedule of Member Remuneration (the 'Schedule') which is in accord with the Panel's determinations on member salary and co-opted member payments and which must contain the following information:

In respect of a principal council:

- a. Named members who are to receive only the basic salary and the amount to be paid.
- b. Named members who are to receive a Band 1 and Band 2 senior salary, the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid.
- c. Named members who are to receive a Band 3, Band 4 and Band 5 senior salary, the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid.
- d. Named members who are to receive a civic salary and the amount to be paid.
- e. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and whether chair or ordinary member and the amount to be paid.
- f. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee and the amount to be paid.
- g. Named members in receipt of a specific or additional senior salary approved by the Panel and the amount to be paid.

In respect of National Park and Fire & Rescue Authorities:

- Named members who are to receive a basic salary and the amount to be paid.
- b. Named member who is to receive a senior salary as a chair of the authority and the amount to be paid.
- c. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as deputy chair of a committee and the amount to be paid.
- d. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and whether a chair or ordinary member and the amounts to be paid.
- 2. Amendments made to the Schedule during the municipal year must be communicated to the Panel as soon as it is practicable.
- 3. Principal councils must confirm in their annual Schedule that the maximum limit of senior salaries set for the council has not been exceeded.

- 4. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must include a statement of allowable expenses and the duties for which they may be claimed for care, travel and subsistence in their annual Schedule which is in accord with the Panel's determinations.
- 5. The Schedule must set out the arrangements for the payment of salaries, allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of the relevant authority (IRPW Regulation 35); arrangements for making claims for care, travel and subsistence expenses (IRPW Regulations 24 and 36-37); arrangements for the avoidance of duplication (IRPW Regulation 38) and arrangements for repayment of salaries, allowances and fees (IRPW Regulation 33). This schedule must also include the duties for which members and co-opted members are able to claim travel, subsistence and care allowances.
- 6. Principal councils must declare in the Schedule whether:
  - A statement of the basic responsibility of a councillor is in place.
  - Role descriptors of senior salary office holders are in place.
  - Records are kept of councillor attendance.
  - Annual reports are prepared by councillors, and published on the council website.
- 7. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must make arrangements for the publication of the Schedule of Member Remuneration as soon as practicable after its determination and no later than 31 July of the year to which it applies. This should be sent to the Panel no later than this date. The Schedule should be published in a manner that provides ready access for members of the public.
- 8. The Schedule must also be sent to the Panel Secretariat to be received by 31<sup>st</sup> July.

#### **Annex 4: Publicity requirements**

In accordance with Section 151 of the Measure the Panel requires that:

Relevant authorities must make arrangements for the publication within the authority area of the remuneration received by its members and co-opted members (including chairs of JOSCs or sub-committees of JOSCs). This information must be published and provided to the Panel no later than 30 September following the end of the year to which the payments relate. The following information must be provided:

- a. The amount of basic salary, senior salary, civic salary and co-opted member fee paid to each named member/co-opted member of the relevant authority, including where the member had chosen to forego all or part of the salary, or fee for the municipal year in question. Where a senior salary has been paid, the title of the senior office held is to be provided.
- b. The payments made by community and town councils to named members as:
  - Costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, information technology, consumables etc.
  - Responsibility payments
  - Allowances made to a mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair
  - Attendance Allowance.
  - Financial Loss Allowance.
  - Costs incurred in respect of travel and subsistence
  - Care allowance.

Nil returns are required to be provided to the Panel by the 30th September.

- c. All care, travel and subsistence expenses and other payments received by each named member and co-opted member of the relevant authority, with each category identified separately.
- d. The amount of any further payments received by any named member nominated to, or appointed by, another relevant authority or other public body as defined by Section 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013, namely:
  - a local health board
  - a police and crime panel
  - a relevant authority
  - a body designated as a public body in an order made by the Welsh Ministers.
- e. Names of members who did not receive basic or senior salary because they were suspended for all or part of the annual period to which the Schedule applies.

Annex 5: Ministerial Remit Letter to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (See next page)

Leighton Andrews AC / AM Y Gweinidog Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Minister for Public Services



Ein cyf/Our ref SF/LA/0859/15

Richard Penn Chair Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales

irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk

2.5 March 2015

Sear Michael,

I was pleased to receive a copy of your Annual Report for 2015. It is clear from your determinations that you are taking account of the ongoing pressures on finances and the need to be mindful of public expectations in relation to the remuneration of elected members and public sector pay more generally.

With this in mind, your recent recommendations in relation to the salaries of the Head of Paid Services at Pembrokeshire and Anglesey councils indicate a readiness to take into account realistic comparisons with salary levels across England and Wales, which I welcome.

I recognise also the efforts of the Panel to address the need to improve diversity in local government, most particularly through the care allowance and the message to local authorities that they should encourage qualified members to take it up.

I am aware that you recently gave evidence to the Assembly Committee considering the Local Government (Wales) Bill 2015. The Bill contains provisions which would enable the Welsh Ministers to direct the Panel to consider the appropriate remuneration for members of shadow authorities and new principal councils. I would expect the Panel to be giving consideration as to how it might approach this new responsibility over the next year.

You will note also the proposed extension of the Panel's responsibilities in relation to the salaries of Heads of Paid Service to additionally encompass chief officers for the period from the enactment of the Bill until 2020, a year after new councils would be expected to have become fully operational. I would welcome the Panel's opinion as to how you might approach this.

The Bill will also increase the size of the Panel from 5 to 6, in recognition of your increased workload. I very much hope that the creation of this additional position, together with the

Bae Caerdydd + Card i Bay Caerdydd - Cardii Caerdydd - Cardii 199 i 114 Wedi'i argraffu ar papur wedi'i allgylchu (100%) English Enquiry Line 0845 010 3300 Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg 0845 010 4400 Correspondence, Leighton Andrews@wales gs1 90% uk Printed on 100% recycled paper recruitment exercise which will take place over this year and next to refresh the Panel's membership, will result in a more equitable gender representation than is currently the case.

Finally, you will be aware of the proposals in the White Paper, Reforming Local Government: Power to Local People, which is the subject of consultation at present. I would draw your attention to the desire of Welsh Government to reduce the cost of politics to the public purse and, in particular, for consideration to be given as to whether all local authority cabinet posts should be treated as full-time commitments, whether all cabinet members in an authority should be paid the same and that rates of payment of leaders and cabinet members should be justifiable when compared with those paid in similarly-sized councils in other parts of the UK.

The White Paper also includes proposals for Area Boards, which would see elected members in leadership positions within their communities. This has implications for the way they would work and their relationship with their council. I would ask the Panel to give early consideration to this.

I shall look forward to your next draft report to see the extent to which these matters have been taken into account.

Leighton Andrews AC / AM

Y Gweinidog Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus

Minister for Public Services

## Annex 6: Guidance to the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales on the salaries of local authority chief executives and chief officers

#### 1. Background

- 1.1. The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 ("the 2013 Act") received its Royal Assent on 30 July 2013. Its prime purpose was to reform the structure and functions of what is now known as the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales. There were, however, other provisions concerning Local Government and related issues. They included:
  - Allowing Principal Councils to appoint Presiding Members to chair their meetings, in preference to the traditional civic chair or mayor;
  - Enabling Local Authorities to promote or oppose private bills in the National Assembly, rather than Parliament, if it is the appropriate legislature;
  - Requiring Town and Community Councils to publish information on the Internet;
  - Amending provisions within the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 ("the 2011 Measure") relating to remote attendance at Council meetings and the constitution of audit and democratic services committees, and
  - Enabling Local Authorities to establish joint standards committees.
- 1.2. In addition, the responsibilities of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales ("the Panel") within the 2011 Measure were amended by the 2013 Act in a number of ways but particularly in relation to the pay of Heads of Paid Service of certain Local Authorities.
- 1.3. Heads of Paid Service are statutory posts introduced under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. Principal Councils and some other local authorities are required to designate one of their officers as the Head of Paid Service. This is usually the Council's Chief Executive Officer. This officer is required to advise the Council with respect to the discharge of its functions and as to the number and organisation of its staff. For the purpose of this guidance, the term Chief Executive ("CEO") is to be considered as a reference to the Head of Paid Service and/or a Chief Fire Officer.
- 1.4. The Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 ("the Act") contains provisions designed to prepare for a restructuring of local government in Wales over the next few years. It contains provisions which:
  - allow for voluntary mergers between principal authorities;
  - Provide for the establishment of transition committees to prepare for new authorities;

- Enable the Local Democracy and Boundary Commission for Wales to review the electoral arrangements for proposed new areas;
- Enable the Panel to determine remuneration of members of proposed councils;
- Place restraints on existing authorities carrying out certain transactions in advance of mergers and require them to provide certain information to Welsh Ministers and other authorities.
- 1.5. Section 29 *et seq* of the Act contains provisions permitting the Welsh Minsters to issue directions to place restraints on, amongst other things, certain transactions and recruitment by "merging authorities". A "merging authority" is a principal authority which is to be merged into a new principal area, whether by merger regulations (voluntary mergers) or by virtue of a Bill introduced in the Assembly by the Welsh Ministers or in an Assembly Act.
- 1.6. In relation to recruitment, directions may impose restrictions on proposed recruitment to certain posts, including chief officers. Should the Welsh Ministers decide to issue directions under subsection (1), no chief officer may be recruited without consent of a person specified in the direction. Should the Welsh Ministers issue a direction under subsection (3), the authority must comply with specified requirements. Directions and therefore the consent or requirements can contain matters connected to the length of any appointment and its remuneration.
- 1.7. In an appointment made subject to the Ministerial directions described, the responsibility of the Panel under section 143A of the 2011 Measure to make recommendations in respect of the pay associated with these posts does not apply where the direction is given in relation to a proposal to pay the person a salary which is different to the person's predecessor.
- 1.8. Section 39(1) of the Act also provides that section 143A of the 2011 Measure has the following effect: the functions of the Panel in relation to CEOs are extended to include all "chief officers" of principal authorities. This is a time limited provision, lasting from the coming into force of this provision, on 25 January 2916 until 31 March 2020. This is the day before the intended "vesting day" on which shadow authorities for new principal areas would take over responsibilities from the currently existing principal authorities.
- 1.9. The definition of "chief officer" in section 39 is taken from the Localism Act 2011:(a) the head of its paid service designated under section 4(1) of the LocalGovernment and Housing Act 1989;
  - (b) its monitoring officer designated under section 5(1) of that Act;
    - (c) a statutory chief officer mentioned in section 2(6) of that Act;
    - (d) a non-statutory chief officer mentioned in section 2(7) of that Act;

(e) a deputy chief officer mentioned in section 2(8) of that Act.

The descriptions for (c)-(e) used in the 1989 Act are (in summary):: "Statutory chief officers" include—

- (a) the chief education officer or director of education
- (b) the chief officer of a fire brigade
- (c) the director of social services or chief social work officer
- (d) the section 151 or chief finance officer

"Non-statutory chief officer" means -

- (a) a person for whom the head of the authority's paid service is directly responsible;
- (b)a person who, as respects all or most of the duties of his post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable to the head of the authority's paid service; and
- (c) any person who, as respects all or most of the duties of his post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable to the local authority themselves or any committee or sub-committee of the authority.

"Deputy chief officer" means, a person who, as respects all or most of the duties of his post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable to one or more of the statutory or non-statutory chief officers.

1.10 Section 39(3) of the Act provides that the Welsh Ministers may issue guidance to the Panel in relation to the temporary extension of its functions relating to chief officers' pay described above..

Further, section 40 amends section 143A of the 2011 Measure to allow an authority that has consulted the Panel about a proposed reduction in salary to reduce (but not increase) the salary payable to a head of paid service (or chief officer for the duration of that provision) while awaiting the recommendation of the Panel provided that the contract under which the salary is payable allows for its alteration once the Panel's recommendation has been considered.

Section 40 also provides that the Panel must notify the Welsh Ministers of any recommendation it makes on officers' remuneration.

#### 2. The Panel's responsibilities in relation to Chief Officer/CEO pay

2.1 Section 63 of the 2013 Act amended the 2011 Measure by inserting a new section 143A. Sections 141 to 160 of the 2011 Measure deal with local authority members' payments and pensions and the powers of the Panel in relation to them. Section

143A enables the Panel to make recommendations, in relation to principal councils and fire and rescue authorities (FRAs), on anything in their Pay Policy Statement (PPS) which relates to the salary of their CEO. As stated above, the Act extends this power for a period to all chief officers in a principal authority. For the purpose of this guidance, salaries include payments made by a relevant authority to an officer who is not an employee of the Authority under a contract for provision of services, as well as payments of salary made to an employed officer under an employment contract. The Panel's power to make recommendations however, is related only to authorities which must produce Pay Policy Statements (principal councils and FRAs). <sup>16</sup>

- 2.2 Pay Policy Statements are a requirement under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 38 to 43), to be published on an annual basis by principal councils and FRAs. The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to a local authority's approach to setting the pay of its employees, by identifying the methods by which salaries are determined. In particular, it must include:
  - Policies on all aspects and elements of the remuneration of Chief Officers;
  - The approach to the publication of, and access to, information relating to all aspects of the remuneration of Chief Officers;
  - The council's policy on the remuneration of its lowest paid employees;
  - The relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and other employees.
- 2.3 The Welsh Government has issued guidance to Local Authorities on this matter. <a href="http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/publications/payaccount/">http://wales.gov.uk/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/publications/payaccount/</a>?lang=en.
- 2.4 Pay Policy Statements (PPSs) are designed to cater for decision-making in relation particularly, to the pay of Chief Officers and the lowest paid staff. The position of the Welsh Government, expressed in the PPS guidance, is decision-making on PPSs takes place in public, is open to scrutiny and is subject to a vote of all Council Members. This is reinforced by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2014), which require a principal council to advertise publicly where it proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and the remuneration it proposes to pay in respect of that role is £100,000 per annum or greater.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> It should be noted that section 64 of the 2013 Act, which enables Welsh Ministers to specify a public body which could be added to those for which the Panel has responsibilities, does not apply in relation to the Panel's responsibilities for Chief Executives' or Chief Officers' pay.

- 2.5 In addition to making recommendations about any policy in the authority's PPS which relates to the salary of the CEO, section 143A of the 2011 Measure also provides that the Panel may make recommendations in respect of any proposal to change the salary of a Chief Executive. Principal councils and fire and rescue authorities are obliged to have regard to any recommendation the Panel makes in relation to what is in their PPS concerning Chief Executives' pay. As set out above, this now applies also to chief officers of principal authorities.
- 2.6. Should a Principal council or FRA wish to change the salary of their CEO, or a principal council wish to change the pay of a chief officer, it will have to consult the Panel, unless the change being considered is commensurate with a general pay increase or reduction for "the authority's other staff"<sup>17</sup>. The council or FRA must have regard to the Panel's recommendation when reaching its decision.
- 2.7 The Panel may request any information it needs to assist it to reach a conclusion on the matter and the Council/FRA will be obliged to provide it. The Panel may publish any recommendation it decides to make.
- 2.8 The Panel's recommendation could express approval of the local authority's proposal, express criticism of or concerns about the proposal, or recommend variations of the proposals but it must have regard to this guidance issued by the Welsh Government.

#### 3. The Panel's deliberation

- 3.1 When considering the issue of officers' salaries, it is important that the Panel fully appreciates it is in a fundamentally different position to that in relation to the remuneration of members of local authorities. In the latter situation, the Panel is the final arbiter in the matter. The Panel has the power to set precisely what a member of a local authority should receive, unless it confines itself to setting maxima instead. However, even in this situation it is the Panel, not the local authority or the Welsh Government, which has the power to make the decisions.
- 3.2. In contrast, in relation to Chief Executives or Chief Officers, the Panel's role is limited to taking a view and making a recommendation. Although the Local authority/authorities concerned must have regard to the recommendation, they are not obliged to follow it. The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended by the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2014) require any such decision to be made through a vote of full Council. The authority however, under section 143A must notify the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> For the purposes of this guidance, "staff" can be interpreted as "officers", so does not include, for instance, teachers or front-line employees delivering services.

Welsh Ministers and the Panel of its response to a recommendation made by the Panel about a change in salary of its CEO. If the Welsh Ministers consider that an authority's response is inconsistent with the Panel recommendation, the authority might be subject to a direction from the Welsh Ministers to re-consider the salary.

- 3.3. Nevertheless, the Panel does not decide what an individual Chief Executive or Chief Officer is paid. This should avoid any need for the Panel to be pulled into negotiations with Trade Unions or professional associations, for instance. Although one cannot rule out the possibility of a legal challenge to a recommendation by the Panel, it is less likely because of the indirect nature of the Panel's relationship to the final decision. It is perhaps more likely, however, in the case of Chief Officers, that the Panel may be subject to pressure from trade unions or professional associations, who may view the Panel's role as intruding into their negotiation process
- 3.4. The Panel is being asked to use its own experience and expertise to arrive at a recommendation in each case that arises. Local authorities are required to provide the Panel with any information it may reasonably require in reaching a conclusion and that provides the Panel with considerable power to gather necessary information. The sort of information the Panel may require could include the following:
  - Papers or reports prepared by the Authority in relation to the matter;
  - Reports or other information provided to the Authority by any consultancy, Trade Union or professional association;
  - Details of the total package available, or under consideration, for the Chief Executive or Chief Officer. This could include the length of contract on offer, pension arrangements, severance package, returning officer fees, performance bonuses, provision for annual and other leave, payment in kind (i.e. cars) and relocation costs. The Panel may also wish to take into account any interdependency of individual salaries within pay structures;
  - Information concerning the remuneration on offer to other Local Authority Chief Executives/Officers. (Note: the Panel are not restricted to only requiring information from the local authority considering a variation in salary).
  - Details of agreements made at the National Joint Council level.
- 3.5 Should there be a situation where, probably as a result of national negotiations, a pay award is made to chief officers across local authorities which differs from that awarded to other staff, the Panel may consider joint or collective approaches from local authorities, rather than each authority needing to separately engage with the Panel. However, this does not fetter the ability of the Panel to make different recommendations to different authorities if they feel so justified.

- 3.6. It is also likely the Panel would wish to take into account more general data relating to prices and incomes, which it may well have available through its relevance to the remuneration of Local Authority members.
- 3.7 The legislation does not restrict the Panel to a purely reactive role. If it wished, the Panel could use its power to make recommendations relating to provisions within local authorities' PPSs irrespective of any proposal to vary the pay of a Chief Executive or Chief Officer provided the recommendation "related to" the salary of the Chief Executive or Chief Officer. The Panel would, however, need to consider whether it had the time and resource to carry out such an exercise and bear in mind that the policy driver behind the provisions in the 2013 Act was related to control over what were viewed as unacceptable decisions in relation to pay increases. Exercising the power in a way that was inconsistent with its purposes, could give rise to legal challenge. However, it does mean any individual or organisation could refer an issue concerning the Chief Executive's or Chief Officer's pay to the Panel for its consideration and the Panel could decide to act on that reference if it felt it necessary.
- 3.8. The Panel needs to be consulted if there is a downward variation being proposed for a Chief Executive's or Chief Officer's pay (unless, as in the case of an increase, it is commensurate with a general approach to officers pay in that Authority). The Panel is likely to take the same type of evidence requirements into account.
- 3.9. Finally, what factors should the Panel take into account in reaching a recommendation? It is for the Panel to make its own assessment of what factors are relevant to the exercise of its discretion in any particular case and how much weight is to be given to them. However, the following paragraphs cover what the Welsh Ministers consider to be key factors to be taken into account by the Panel.
- 3.10. When recruiting Chief Executives and Chief Officers, public sector bodies are obliged to consider what remuneration will be required to recruit and retain the most suitably qualified persons. That is why there is often a large differential between the highest paid individual officer at Chief Executive Officer level and the next level within an Authority. Particularly in relation to Chief Fire Officers, the Panel needs to recognise the professional expertise required for the post and will need to refer to the National Joint Council for Brigade Managers of Local Authority Fire and Rescue Services ("the Gold Book").
- 3.11. The Panel will need to be sensitive to this but also take a balanced approach. Public acceptability is a legitimate factor for the Panel to take into account, but it should not be given undue weight. Although perceived excesses in remuneration of politicians and public officials have given rise to public controversy, it is understandable any significant increase in pay for an already well-paid post may be criticised at a time when economic circumstances are difficult for many families. The Panel also needs to be aware that one of the reasons for the new duty in relation to chief officers being introduced is to introduce an element of control over

- any possibility of unreasonable pay rises taking place as mergers approach. Generous increases could have a marked impact on entitlement to redundancy or pension packages.
- 3.12. Salary levels for Chief Executive Officers within comparable local authorities need to be taken into account. In addition, there is a tendency to set arithmetic limits on the differential between the highest and lowest paid staff in an organisation, as well as the differential between the highest and second highest paid. It will be for the Panel to decide whether to take cognisance of this and how much weight to give it.
- 3.13. The Panel will also be able to take into account whether the salary under consideration is reasonable for the area concerned.
- 3.14. In conclusion, the Panel will want to satisfy itself the local authority concerned has made a clear business case for a proposed change and examined the options. The view of the Panel should be taken at the end, not the beginning of the process, in order that the Panel is able to see all the evidence the authority has taken into account in making its proposal. This will be particularly important when an urgent appointment is being considered. If the Panel's view is required quickly, it will need to have all the background information readily available.

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Room M.05 First Floor Crown Buildings Cathay's Park Cardiff CF10 3NQ

Telephone: 029 2080 1047

E-mail: <a href="mailto:irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk">irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk</a>

The Report and other information about the Panel and its work are available on

our website at:

www.remunerationpanelwales.org.uk

## Agenda Item 5

#### **Report of the Head of Democratic Services**

#### **Democratic Services Committee – 15 March 2016**

#### **COUNCILLOR INDUCTION 2017**

Purpose:		To consider and provide a response to the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) Consultation document relating to Councillor Induction 2017. Additionally, the Committee are asked to comment on an early Draft Councillors Induction Programme 2017.		
Policy Framework:		None.		
Consultation:		Access to Services, Finance, Legal.		
Recommendation(s):		It is recommended that:		
1)	A response be made in respect of the Welsh Local Governmen Association (WLGA) Consultation relating to Councillor Induction 2017.			
Report Author:		Huw Eva	ns	
Finance Officer:		Carl Billin	ngsley	
Legal Officer:		Tracey M	leredith	
Access to Services Officer:		Phil Cou	ch	

#### 1. Introduction

- 1.1 Training and Personal Development is vital for Councillors and Co-opted Members. It helps them to progress, improve and to carry out their role as effectively as possible.
- 1.2 Training is the process of acquiring the essential skills required for a certain role. Personal Development puts emphasis on broader skills, which are applicable in a wide range of situations such as decision making and creative thinking.

#### 2. Councillors Induction Programme 2017

- 2.1 To that end there is a need to prepare a Councillors Induction Programme 2017 for the Councillors elected and re-elected in May 2017. The draft Programme is appended as **Appendix A**.
- 2.2 The Welsh Local Government Association have circulated a consultation document relating to a Councillors Induction Programme 2017. This is appended as **Appendix B**.
- 2.3 The Committee is asked to consider the early draft Councillors Induction Programme and to use it as a useful tool to assist in drafting a response to the WLGA. The consultation period closes on 18 March 2016.

2.4 The Councillors Induction Programme is aimed at newly elected and returning Councillors. Co-Opted Members are also invited to attend.

#### 3. Equality and Engagement Implications

3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening process took place prior to the consultation period. The outcome indicated that it was low priority and a full report was not required.

#### 4. Financial Implications

4.1 Any costs that arise will be minimal and will be met from within existing budget.

#### 5. Legal Implications

5.1 None.

Background Papers: None.

#### Appendices:

Appendix A	Draft Councillor Induction Programme 2017
Appendix B	WLGA Councillor Induction Programme 2017 Consultation

# Appendix A

## **Proposed Councillor Induction Training Programme 2017**

Day	Date	Time	Location	Event	Officer
				Signing Acceptance of Office  Cllrs MUST sign their Acceptance of Office prior to them commencing as a Councillor	Chief Executive
				Councillor Photographs for ID cards  Cllrs will need their ID cards in order to obtain access to certain areas within the Guildhall & Civic Centre	Council Photographer
				Allocation of Liaison Officer Councillors will be allocated a Democratic Services Officer as their Single Point of Contact	Head of Democratic Services
				Presentation by Chief Officers	Chief Executive & Corporate Directors
				Council / Cabinet (Executive) Functions 20 Minute Presentation on the Functions of Council / Cabinet	Monitoring Officer
D D				Introduction to Code of Conduct & Standards Compulsory	Monitoring Officer
D 0 0 0 0 0 0 0				Interests, Gifts & Hospitality including Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) Guidance Compulsory	Monitoring Officer
				Council Constitution (General) & Council Procedure Rules, Etiquette and Behaviour etc.	
				Good Decision Making / Bias / Pre-determination & Rules of Natural Justice  Compulsory	
				Rules of Debate Compulsory	
				Introduction to Scrutiny	Scrutiny Manager
				Councillors Handbook & Allowances	Head of Democratic Services
				Councillors ICT To include advice & guidance on Councillor ICT	ICT Strategic Performance Manager

## **Proposed Councillor Induction Training Programme 2017**

Day	Date	Time	Location	Event	Officer
				Licensing Training	Legal Officer &
				Compulsory for those on Licensing Committee	Licensing Officer
				Audit Committee Training	Chief Auditor
				Compulsory for those on Audit Committee	
				Planning Committee Training	Planning Control
				Compulsory for those on Planning Committee	Manager
				How to Chair a Meeting Training	WLGA?
				Only for Chairs of Committees but not Scrutiny Chairs	
				Chairing Training for Chairs of Scrutiny.	WLGA?
				Compulsory for all members that Chair Scrutiny Committees	
				& Scrutiny Inquiry Panels/Working Groups	
				Disciplinary & Disciplinary Investigation Training	Monitoring Officer
				Compulsory for all members of the Appeals & Awards	
P				Committee.	
Page 95				Rights of Way & Commons & Village Green Status	Legal Officer
95				Training	
				Compulsory for all members of the Planning Committee	1 000
				Local Authority (LA) Governor Panel Training	Legal Officer
				Training will be provided at commencement of the 1st LA	
				Governor Panel meeting	TDO
				Corporate Parenting Training	TBC
				Compulsory	
				Equalities / Welsh Language Training	Policy Development
					Officer (Equalities) &
					50+ Strategy Co-
				October 1 to 1 To 1 to 1	ordinator
				Social Inclusion / Tackling Poverty Training	Tackling Poverty
					Manager
				Regional Induction workshops for new Councillors (if available)	WLGA

## **Proposed Councillor Induction Training Programme 2017**

Day	Date	Time	Location	Event	Officer
				Safeguarding Adults Training	Senior OD
				Compulsory	Officer/Corporate
					Training
					Lead &Social
					Services Policy
					Development Officer
				Safeguarding and Protection of Children Training	Senior OD
				Compulsory	Officer/Corporate
					Training
					Lead &Social
					Services Policy
					Development Officer
				Recruitment & Selection Training	Head of Human
				Compulsory for all members of the Appointments Committee	Resources
Pa				Data Protection Training	Legal Officer
Page 96				Compulsory	
96				Scrutiny Questioning Skills	WLGA?
				Compulsory for all members on Scrutiny Programme	
				Committee / Scrutiny Inquiry Panels	
				Children's Rights (UNCRC)	Poverty & Prevention
					Participation worker
				Domestic Abuse	Domestic Abuse and
					Sexual Violence
					Strategy Co-
					ordinator

Please note you will be assigned to certain Committees at the Annual Council Meeting which is being held on XX May 2017.

#### **Induction for New Members in 2017**

Local Authorities and the Welsh Local Government Association have traditionally worked together to plan and support induction activities for new members in Wales following local elections. The 2017 elections will bring fresh challenges for members and authorities and a new approach may be required. Following discussions with Heads and Chairs of Democratic Services at recent network meetings, this discussion document is offered for wider consideration, to inform joint working and the sharing of resources. It will also inform discussions with the Welsh Government.

Induction in 2017 will require a different approach to that taken previously because:

- 1. The changing face of local government is likely to mean that the expectations placed on members has grown and will continue to increase. New and returning members will require information on changes in legislation such as the Well-Being of Future Generations Act, the Planning Act and the Social Services and Well-Being Act. The Draft Local Government (Wales) Bill (if it becomes law) will require fundamental changes to the role of members and committee structures over and above the reorganisation of local government. The nature of council service delivery and councillor casework is also changing rapidly to meet the needs of communities as a result of welfare reform, immigration, population growth and an aging population.
- Reduced staff and budgets mean that there are fewer resources both locally and nationally to support the induction of new and returning members. There will also inevitably be fewer opportunities for authorities to use outside providers for councillor development and authority officers may have less time to provide sessions themselves.
- 3. There is greater potential to deliver learning to members digitally. Members are more IT literate and digitally engaged than previously and the new intake are likely to be used to learning and communicating online. There is now free access to the Local Government All Wales Academy for e-learning for members.
- 4. The Draft Local Government (Wales) Bill may require that each authority should decide which aspects of councillor development is mandatory. Some authorities already make provision for this in their constitutions. A general agreement on what should be considered mandatory development would help councils work together to provide it.
- 5. Other partners may be available to help in councillor development for example, Academi Wales (WG) who sponsor the Leadership Academy and the Fairer Futures division in the WG (who have delivered the recent regional equalities training).

The Network believes that the induction process can be streamlined, shared and supported by the WLGA and other partners.

#### Members have told us the following about induction in previous years:

- Delivering too much information too soon (or even over the first 6 months) is not always helpful for members.
- Members appreciate receiving some learning activities face to face. This usually includes committee briefings, scrutiny questioning, chairing, media skills.
- Members appreciate opportunities to see council and community offices, venues, locations and meet both senior and frontline officers.
- Members sometimes find general presentations from service directors too detailed and not delivered at the right time.
- Members value information on how to contact relevant officers and what they do.
- Induction works best when it is coordinated and the content decided by one team in discussion with all service areas, rather than different services being given space in a programme which leads to an imbalance in information.
- Members enjoy regional induction activities as opportunities to hear about approaches in different authorities.
- Induction workshop materials developed by the WLGA and authorities in previous years were used in some cases by some authorities but not universally.
- New Cabinets may also need support in understanding their roles.
- Buddying of new councillors with officers/ members can be helpful for the first few days.
- Mentoring of new members is useful but often takes place informally. Mentors require training in mentoring skills.
- Dates for induction need to be provided to candidates as soon as notice of their candidature is received.

#### Some possible ways forward:

- A 'curriculum' for induction might be useful to share and agree among authorities as a first stage. This should dovetail with role descriptions and the *Wales Councillor Development Framework* and most importantly be agreed by current members as useful. Some initial ideas are contained in the example induction programme below.
- An agreement on which aspects of councillor development should be mandatory.
   Although the Local Government Wales Bill suggests that each local authority would decide which training for councillors should be mandatory, a shared agreement across Wales would strengthen arrangements and facilitate resource sharing. The Welsh Government have agreed that they would welcome suggestions from the Network about what training should be recommended as mandatory if this becomes law. Initial suggestions are:

#### For all councillors

- Code of Conduct and Ethics
- o Constitutional matters including meeting participation Standing Orders etc.
- Introduction to Equalities
- Safeguarding
- o Data Management and Freedom of Information
- Corporate Parenting
- Finance including budgeting and treasury management

#### For specific committee members

- o Planning for Planning Committee members
- Standards for Standards Committee members
- Licencing for Licencing committee members
- Audit for Audit committee members
- Appointments for appointment committees
- Scrutiny for Scrutiny Members

#### For Chairs

- Meeting management skills for all chairs and vice chairs
- Effective scrutiny chairing for scrutiny chairs and vice chairs
- Market place style induction days as used in some authorities in 2012 might be a good alternative to the traditional programmed first induction day.
- Efforts should be put into making members more able to learn independently, having access to information and skills as and when needed rather than as part of a formal suite of induction workshops. Mandatory sessions and those best delivered face to face would be programmed but everything else could be available as e learning (with monitoring of courses undertaken). Induction to ICT, access to member's portals, and help with accessing e learning therefore becomes more of a priority in the programme.
- Regional shared sessions. Working with partners such as WLGA and Welsh Government.
- Scheduling of personal development reviews for new councillors following induction so that ongoing training can be decided and prioritised.

#### An example local authority induction programme

#### **Day One** (Compulsory)

- Signing the Declaration of Office and Code of conduct
- Tour of council offices/ facilities
- Given new councillor pack which includes all contacts, councillor's guide (either in print or via link to the members portal)
- o Welcome from the Chief Executive
- Presentation. How the council works just an overview of corporate governance not each service.
- Explanation of the induction process

#### **Week One**

Market place and induction essentials 10.00 - 8.00. Open all day but councillors can 'dip in and out' within the expectation that they will attend a mandatory ethics and standards session. Food provided 12.30 - 13.30 for everyone to encourage more discussions.

Room 1	Room 2	Room 3
Market Place	Mandatory Ethics and	ICT equipment and
Each of the major service	Standards/Code of	induction.
areas/initiatives has a	<b>Conduct training</b> by	By officers from the ICT
stand with senior and	Monitoring Officer.	team.
operational staff ready to	Members attend one	Members are booked onto
explain what they do and	session.	one to one sessions 40
issues of the day. Members	10.00 – 12.00	mins each. Given
circulate throughout the	2.00 4.00	equipment, access to
day and evening.	6.00 – 8.00	networks and member
		portal, and e learning
		packages. Instructions
		given as required.

Mandatory Committee training (see list above) will take place prior to first meeting of relevant Committee.

**E-Learning will be available from Day One accessed when required.** (See modules for members and other on All Wales Academy previously distributed)

First 6 months - remaining mandatory training in face to face workshops (see above)

Second 6 months - Remaining induction requirements (not mandatory) such

- Community Leadership and Casework
- New Cabinet development if required
- Further policy, service and legislative requirements for each committee

April 2018 Personal Development Review to identify further development needs.

**Additional materials provided by the WLGA** include a Candidates guide which will be ready April 2016 on the WLGA Website. Candidates can be referred to this stand alone resource and authorities can also customise for their own websites and for hard copy distribution.

A New Councillors Guide, produced in the same way will be available in December 2016.

Views from each authority on the possible ways forward are invited from Democratic Services Committees and other officers and members responsible for councillor support and development.

When all authorities have had an opportunity to consider the suitability of the approach, the Network and the WLGA will ensure that priority resources are made available where they do not already exist.